The Experience of Staff Working in a Trauma-Informed Framework of Practice with Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Young People Leaving Care

Jemma Griggs

May 2024

Research submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor in Clinical Psychology (DClinPsy), Royal Holloway, University of London.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, Dr Joel Harvey, I cannot thank you enough for your continued support, expert knowledge and wisdom. I have found it truly inspiring to work with you and have developed a passion for this area of research. It has also been a pleasure to conduct this research with the National House Project (NHP), a wonderful charity with unbelievably kind and hardworking staff members. I am grateful to all ten participants from the NHP who gave up their time to take part in the research and share their experiences with me.

To the Royal Holloway DClinPsy 2021 cohort, thank you for your support throughout training, it has been lovely to share this journey with you all. To Nicola, Kate, Sam, Tasha, and Arshia I cannot thank you enough for all of your support and have really appreciated our monthly come dine with me gatherings!

Finally, I would like to say a huge thank you to my family and friends for bringing happiness and laughter which kept me going throughout training. Particularly to Robert, my partner, thank you for always believing in me. I am so grateful for your unwavering support, motivational pep talks and patience.

Lay Summary	7
Chapter 1: The Experience of Staff Working in a Trauma-Informed Framework of Practice with Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Young People Leaving Care	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Background	
Trauma Presentations in Unaccompanied Young People	
Staff Experiences of Supporting Unaccompanied Young People	
Staff Experiences of Trauma-Informed Practice with Young People	16
Rationale and Aim of Present Study	19
Method	20
Design	20
Ethics	20
Participants	21
Eligibility	21
Recruitment	
Sample	
Materials	22
Procedure	23
Data Analysis	23
Quality	25
Reflexivity	27
Results	27
Uncertainty	
Understanding Trauma	29
Unique Trauma	
Differing Trauma Triggers	
Curious About Coping Responses	
Trauma can be Hidden	
Thin Stories	
Language and Cultural Differences	
Towards Establishing Secure Attachments	
Creative Connection	
Cultural Competency	

Table of Contents

Whole Systems Approach	
Discussion	
Main Findings	43
Strengths and Limitations	
Implications and Recommendations	
Conclusions	55
Chapter 2: The Experience of Staff Working in Social Care, Mental Hea and Criminal Justice Settings with Young People Leaving Care	
Abstract	57
Introduction	58
Background	
Care Leavers Needs and Outcomes	59
Young People's Experiences of Transitioning Out of Care	60
Staff Experiences of Supporting Young People Leaving Care	61
Summary	
Previous Reviews	63
Aims of the Current Review	64
Method	65
Search Strategy	65
Eligibility Criteria	66
Types of Studies	67
Participant Characteristics and Context	
Study Selection	
Quality Assessment	
Data Extraction	69
Data Analysis	69
Results	70
The Search	70
Characteristics of Included Studies	72
Year, Location and Study Settings	
Sample and Type of Support	
Methodology	
Quality Appraisal	
Data Synthesis	
Recognition of Young People's Needs	90

Mental Health Needs	
Relational Needs	91
System Complexities	
Reactive Services	
Lack of Continuity	94
Insufficient Resources and Training	95
Negative Impact on Staff	
Overwhelmed Teams	
A Sense of Helplessness	
Poor Staff Retention	
Discussion	
Main Findings	
Evaluation of the Current Review	
Implications for Research and Clinical Practice	
Conclusions	
Chapter 3: Integration, Impact, and Dissemination	
Integration	
The Connection Between the Empirical Study and the Systematic Review	
Recruitment	
Methodological Considerations	
Expert by Experience Involvement	
Self-Reflection	
Impact	
Clinical Impact	
Academic Impact	
Dissemination	
References	
Appendices	
Appendix A	
Ethical Approval From the Research Ethics Committee at Royal Holloway	
Appendix B	148
Participant Information Sheet Appendix C	
Participant Consent Form	
Appendix D	
<i>Letter of Approval for the Research Project from the CEO at the NHP</i> Appendix E	

List of Figures

Figure 1	28
Thematic Map Showing the Overarching Theme, Themes and Subthemes from Thematic Analysis.	
Figure 2	71
PRISMA Flow Diagram Showing the Study Selection Process.	

Figure 389Thematic Map Showing the Themes and Subthemes from the Thematic Synthesis.

List of Tables

Table 17	4
Summary of Included Studies Characteristics.	
Table 28	8

Quality Assessment Outcomes of Included Studies.

Lay Summary

Background

Whilst young people leaving care have many strengths having survived difficult childhood experiences, those experiences can, however, often lead to more negative outcomes compared to young people who have not been in care (e.g., worse educational, mental health, physical health outcomes). This is particularly for unaccompanied asylumseeking young people, who are under the age of eighteen years old seeking asylum in the UK who have been separated from their parents or carers. These young people have difficult experiences in their home country, on their journey over to the UK, and upon arrival in the UK, leading to their unique needs. Research has shown services supporting young people transitioning out of care need to be trauma-informed, that is more understanding and compassionate towards young people and staff, to better meet their needs. Such research, although limited, has mainly focused on young people's experiences of leaving care, yet to provide the best care possible it is important to also hear the experience of staff.

Empirical Study

This study aimed to explore the experience of staff working in a trauma-informed framework of practice with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people who are leaving care. Participants were recruited from the National House Project (NHP), a charity that has developed Local House Projects (LHPs) around the UK to support young people aged sixteen and over who are leaving care. Participants had to currently work with the NHP and have experience of working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people who are leaving care. This qualitative study involved interviewing ten staff members from varying roles to explore their experiences of working with these young people.

Interviews were analysed using reflexive thematic analysis to identify patterns of meaning across the data. One overarching theme, three themes and eight subthemes were developed. The three themes were 'understanding trauma', 'trauma can be hidden', and 'towards establishing secure attachments', all within the overarching theme of 'uncertainty'.

Findings show that staff had a good understanding of young people's trauma and recognised their unique needs. Staff recommendations to enhance practice with these young people included better sharing of practices between staff, aiming to better understand cultural differences, and services working together more. The study indicates that leaving care services can benefit from implementing trauma-informed practice when working with these young people. Having trauma-informed leadership that is relational is important to its success. Young people's involvement in the development of trauma-informed and relational practice and training is important. Future research should explore the experiences of staff and young people in services implementing such practice, with the development of monitoring and evaluation tools needed.

Systematic Review

The systematic review aimed to understand the experience of staff working with young people leaving care across four settings: social care, mental health, education, and criminal justice settings. Previous reviews mainly focused on young people's views and outcomes. Two previous reviews had explored staff experiences yet the majority of included studies were mixed samples of staff and young people's experiences.

Three electronic databases were searched for qualitative studies exploring staff experiences of working with young people currently transitioning or preparing to transition out of care across the four settings. Fourteen studies met the criteria for inclusion in the review. These studies were analysed and found that staff showed 'recognition of young

people's needs' including their *mental health needs* and *relational needs*. However 'system complexities' made it difficult for staff to meet young people's needs and these complexities included *reactive services*, *lack of continuity*, and *insufficient resources and training*. This resulted in a 'negative impact on staff' with them working in *overwhelmed teams*, developing *a sense of helplessness* which could result in *poor staff retention*.

Findings indicated that staff were working in traumatised systems which may lead to negative outcomes for young people and staff. Such services require the implementation of trauma-informed practice. Funding should go towards trauma-informed leadership to help transform the whole service. Future research should explore the experience of staff working with young people transitioning out of care, potentially implementing this recommendation. Such implementations of new practice or services should be observed over time to monitor progress and identify any barriers.

Integration, Impact, and Dissemination

The empirical study and systematic review were closely connected in their shared focus on the experience of staff supporting young people leaving care. Overall, the findings indicated that staff in the empirical study had very different experiences compared to those in the systematic review. The individual and organisational impact of the findings were considered. Reflections were made on the research processes and how the researcher's background and experiences may have influenced these. It is recommended that services supporting young people leaving care should implement trauma-informed practice, particularly trauma-informed leadership. Within this the empirical study highlighted the additional considerations needed to best support young people from minoritised groups. Future research should focus on exploring the experiences of staff and young people leaving care across settings, and potentially within services implementing such practice. To ensure

that the research findings can reach as many people as possible, they will be shared with participants, the NHP, and aim to be published in journals.

Chapter 1:

The Experience of Staff Working in a Trauma-Informed Framework of Practice with Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Young People Leaving Care

Abstract

In the UK the number of unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people in care is at its highest. These young people experience unique trauma resulting in complex needs, with trauma-informed practice best placed to meet them. This is particularly required when leaving care and making the already difficult transition to adulthood. However, little research exists exploring the use of trauma-informed practice with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people. It is important to hear staff perspectives to ensure they are best meeting these young people's needs and are being contained themselves. The present study explored staff experience of working in a trauma-informed framework of practice with these young people who are leaving care.

Semi-structured interviews were conducted with ten staff members at the National House Project (NHP), a charity supporting young people leaving care. Interviews were analysed using reflexive thematic analysis which developed an overarching theme, three themes and eight subthemes. Themes included 'understanding trauma', 'trauma can be hidden', and 'towards establishing secure attachments', situated within the overarching theme of 'uncertainty'. Staff showed good understanding of these young people's *unique trauma* including *differing trauma triggers* and were *curious about coping responses*. Yet it was identified that trauma, if present, may be hidden by there being *thin stories* and *language and cultural differences*. Staff recommendations to enhance trauma-informed practice included *creative connection* between staff, striving towards *cultural competency*, and a *whole service approach*.

The study implies services supporting unaccompanied young people can benefit from implementing trauma-informed practice. Research highlights how having trauma-informed leadership increases its success. Young people's involvement in the development of traumainformed practice and training is essential. Future research should explore staff and young

people's experiences of implementing such practice, with the development of monitoring and evaluation tools needed.

Introduction

Background

Unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people (referred to as young people throughout) are young people under the age of eighteen years old seeking asylum in the UK who are separated from their parents or carers (Sanchez-Clemente et al., 2023). The number of these young people in care in the UK is at its highest, with them making up 21% of the care population (DfE, 2023). These young people also make up 27% of eighteen year olds in the leaving care population (DfE, 2021). Being children in need, the local authority has a duty of care to provide the young people with the same level of care as any other looked after child (Children Act, 1989). This includes support to assist their transition to adulthood (Children (Leaving Care) Act, 2000), although such support can be more complicated depending on whether they have been granted their right to remain status.

Trauma Presentations in Unaccompanied Young People

The young people have often experienced significant trauma, which has been conceptualised in three separate stages: in their country of origin, on their journey to the UK, and upon arrival in the UK (Sanchez-Clemente et al., 2023). The young people have fled their home country due to fear of death and persecution, forced military recruitment, war and natural disaster, with many experiencing some form of violence including sexual violence (Thomas et al., 2004). The young people then face difficult journey's over to the UK often with prolonged periods of time without food or water, forced labour, sexual exploitation, and physical abuse (Portnoy & Ward, 2020). Upon arrival in the UK the young people must adapt to a new cultural environment including learning a new language, facing discrimination and abuse, alongside dealing with the ongoing uncertainty with asylum claims. It has been found that these post-migration factors are determinants of negative mental health outcomes (Bamford et al., 2021).

Having experienced such trauma, the young people have a high prevalence of mental health difficulties (Müller et al., 2019). These young people experience cumulative trauma indicating high and continuous trauma, found within young people from differing backgrounds and at different time points of their migration journeys (Pfeiffer et al., 2022). Trauma symptoms and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is more prevalent in these young people compared to others in care, including accompanied young people (Bamford et al., 2021) and those who are met by family on arrival in the UK (Van der Veer & Van Waning, 2004). This highlights the extra level of distress these young people experience having been alone throughout this journey. It is further thought that these young people may express trauma in different ways compared to other young people in care, displaying more reexperiencing and somatic symptoms including experiencing upsetting thoughts, bad dreams, headaches, stomach aches, and body pains (Kvestad et al., 2023).

Despite such trauma symptoms, research has found that the young people often display high levels of resilience and may have differing resilience factors compared to others in care (Rodriguez & Dobler, 2021). This is mainly due to the differing nature of their trauma as they have often developed secure attachments in childhood, compared to others in care who have often experienced developmental trauma from a caregiver (Rodriguez & Dobler, 2021). Further, there are factors found to promote resilience amongst such young people including connection with family and their country of origin, positive relationships in the UK, integration of their old and new culture and living in supported but less restrictive settings (Carlson et al., 2012; Mitra & Hodes, 2019).

Staff Experiences of Supporting Unaccompanied Young People

Staff across multiple settings including social work, education, health, and voluntary sectors, have identified positive aspects of working with unaccompanied young people including their politeness, commitment and dedication, particularly to educational and career achievements (Hopkins & Hill, 2010). Staff also identified aspects which are unique to the young people compared to others in care. This included staff acknowledging the role of politics in this area of work, voicing the struggle of navigating their own roles within the constraints of the wider political system within which their practice operates, made more complex by immigration legislation constantly changing (Devenney, 2020). This can leave staff feeling frustrated and helpless, often experiencing an internal moral conflict between their own values in relation to the best interests of the young person and attempting to adhere to such legislation (Cemlyn & Nye, 2012; Dunkerley, 2005).

Driven by the constant changes in the wider political system, research has found that staff reported how working with these young people brings uncertainty to the forefront of their practice (Larkin, 2015). This includes uncertainty around assessments of these young people due to limited information available about their life before entering the UK, with pathway planning for the future challenging due to the uncertainty of them likely not having indefinite right to remain in the UK (Wade, 2011).

Staff also identified that these young people require additional support such as adapting to their cultural needs including overcoming potential language barriers, navigating legal processes and managing unique trauma presentations often with limited support networks (Sidery, 2019). Generally staff working across settings with the young people identified a need for training enabling them to better provide such additional support (Chase et al., 2008; Vostanis et al., 2024; Ward, 2022). It was also highlighted how day-to-day provision of support for these young people often falls to agencies in the voluntary sector

who receive limited feedback or space to process this emotive work (Basic & Matsuda, 2020).

The additional needs and considerations identified by staff are in line with the struggles unaccompanied young people have described. These included having a lack of information and understanding about available services particularly mental health services, misidentification with the legal process, and a lack of engagement with support due to stigma and cultural differences (Demazure et al., 2022).

Staff Experiences of Trauma-Informed Practice with Young People

Trauma-informed practice is an organisational framework which encourages the understanding and responding to the impact of trauma on patients, staff and anyone involved with the system, underpinned by values such as choice, empowerment, safety, mutuality, and trust (Oral et al., 2020). Trauma-informed practice includes workforce development (e.g., training staff on trauma and the provision of regular spaces for reflection and addressing potential trauma); trauma-focused services (e.g., using trauma screening measures and evidence-based trauma-focused interventions); and organisational interventions (e.g., trauma-informed leadership and integrating trauma-informed principles into policy) (Hanson & Lang, 2016). However, despite many services across health and social care settings striving to transform to achieve such practice, it is widely recognised that trauma-informed practice has multiple definitions with no clear consensus on what it actually means (Fernández et al., 2023; Hanson & Lang, 2016). Due to this, despite recognising the need for trauma-informed practice with young people, this remains inconsistently interpreted and implemented within practice (Bendall et al., 2021; Hickle, 2020).

It has been found that a trauma-informed approach is most effective when traumainformed leadership is present (Menschner & Maul, 2016). Leaders should be aware of how

trauma can impact anyone in the service with such knowledge being integrated into service delivery, ensuring practitioners are safe and supported to prevent burnout (Perry & Jackson, 2018). When implementing trauma-informed practice in schools, staff reported that having trauma-informed leadership was a prominent driver of change as it created a shared understanding and staff 'buy-in' (Avery et al., 2022). Moreover, staff reported that having leaders who support them in processing the impact of constant exposure to details of childhood trauma, encouraged a trauma-informed organisational culture (Galvin et al., 2022).

Considering young people in care specifically, one study explored staff experience of implementing a type of trauma-informed model, The Sanctuary Model, in an Australian residential care setting (Galvin et al., 2022). Staff identified helpful factors including reflective spaces and supervision, and a written framework for guidance. Identified barriers to implementing the trauma-informed model included a lack of resources, training that did not incorporate real-world examples making application in practice more difficult, and implementation being too informal.

A further study in an Australian residential care setting found residential care workers applied some elements of trauma-informed practice including self-awareness, providing a safe environment and empowering young people to have choice (Vamvakos & Berger, 2024). However staff felt they lacked the training to support positive behaviour changes within young people and also failed to identify their own trauma-informed actions in practice even when they aligned with trauma-informed principles. Yet both these studies did not focus on implementing this model when supporting unaccompanied young people or care leavers, and solely focused on the experience of residential care workers.

In more recent years it has been recognised that using a relational, trauma-informed approach when working with unaccompanied young people is required to better meet their

unique needs (Larkin, 2015). This approach helps to create a safe environment, helping unaccompanied young people to build trusting relationships, facilitate choice, a sense of belonging, and ensure that staff also feel contained (Hoare, 2022). However, there is limited research exploring the implementation of trauma-informed leadership and practice in services working with unaccompanied young people. Some services working with these young people have implemented different trauma-informed approaches, yet do not implement traumainformed practice at an organisational level. This includes culturally adapted therapy groups for young people (King & Said, 2019), delivering trauma-informed psychoeducation informed by the young people to social workers (Hoare, 2022) and developing an integrated pathway of physical, sexual, and mental health services for the young people (Armitage et al., 2022). This research also mainly focused on the successful outcomes of such interventions for the young people, whilst staff experiences of implementing these interventions are not discussed.

There is one study in America where multiple states received funding to develop a trauma-informed approach to the delivery of care for unaccompanied young people at an organisational level (Borbon et al., 2023). This included promoting the use of trauma-focused evidenced-based interventions, providing trauma-awareness training for staff, creating trauma-informed systems within the community and improving accessibility of resources via translation. Grantees within these states reported using trauma-informed leadership for the delivery of care, improved outcomes for the young people. Whilst the transition of these young people leaving care was not a focus, the study made a key recommendation to approach this transition through a trauma-informed cultural lens ensuring the availability of robust aftercare services. Hence, this highlights a gap in the literature of exploring staff experiences working with unaccompanied young people who are also leaving care.

Rationale and Aim of Present Study

The literature review highlighted how trauma-informed care is essential when working with unaccompanied young people, particularly when leaving care and making the already challenging transition to adulthood (Borbon et al., 2023). An identified gap in the research literature is exploring staff perspectives on implementing trauma-informed approaches in practice (Hickle, 2020), specifically when working with unaccompanied young people who are leaving care. It is essential to hear and understand staff experiences to ensure they are best meeting these young people's needs and to ensure their own wellbeing is considered.

The National House Project (NHP), the research site for this current study, is a charity working with young people aged sixteen and over who are leaving care. It has developed Local House Projects (LHPs) in different locations around the UK which operate at a local authority level to support young people. Young people can obtain a housing tenancy when part of the NHP, yet its mission is much broader aiming to build a sense of belonging and community for young people. The NHP has developed its ORCHIDS framework jointly with young people and staff, intended to provide structure to everyday interactions at the LHPs. ORCHIDS is an acronym which stands for Ownership, Responsibility, Community, Home, Interdependence, Direction and Sense of Wellbeing, and is underpinned by trauma-informed principles. The NHP receives psychological support from independent psychologists who offer training in attachment and trauma, collaboratively develop psychological team formulations for every young person who joins a LHP, and offer psychological consultation to staff providing a space for reflection and support.

A recent review of the NHP concluded that it was working in a trauma-informed way (Harvey et al., 2022). It found through observations and interviews that young people had developed a sense of belonging and a sense of feeling competent and autonomous, as well as

evidence of trauma-informed leadership. The NHP reported supporting increasing numbers of unaccompanied young people who have experienced unique trauma and may require additional support. It is recognised and recommended that implementing an effective trauma-informed approach for these young people will require additional adaptations to meet their unique needs compared to other individuals (Lusmen & Kreppner, 2024).

The study aims to address the gap in the literature by exploring the experience of staff working in a trauma-informed framework of practice with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people who are leaving care. As discussed above the NHP implements a traumainformed framework and includes unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people as part of the community.

The study will address the following research question: What is the experience of staff working in a trauma-informed framework of practice with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people who are leaving care?

Method

Design

This study used a qualitative design conducting semi-structured interviews and applied reflexive thematic analysis (TA) (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This helped gain a rich, indepth understanding of participants' experiences to address the research question.

Ethics

Ethical approval for the project was obtained from Royal Holloway, University of London Ethics Committee, REC Project ID: 3821, on the 26th of September 2023 (Appendix A). Key ethical issues were highlighted in the participant information sheet (Appendix B) and consent form (Appendix C). The project further adhered to the BPS Code of Human Research Ethics (Oates et al., 2021). Ethical approval was not required from the NHS Health Research Authority as recruitment was within a local authority setting. The CEO of the NHP provided a letter of approval for the research project (Appendix D).

Participants

Eligibility

Inclusion criteria required participants to be currently working at the NHP regardless of their job role. Participants had to either currently be or had previously worked with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people at the NHP. This included direct work, for example individual or group support, and indirect work, for example providing supervision for staff working with such young people or developing policies. There was no limit on the amount of experience participants had working with such young people.

Recruitment

Information about the study was discussed with both the CEO and the Director of the NHP. At the time of recruitment there were three LHPs working with unaccompanied asylumseeking young people. The CEO and Director identified two of these LHPs to be suitable for recruitment, alongside the NHP leadership team. The CEO and Director alongside the project manager at each of the chosen LHPs identified potential participants (all of the staff working at the LHP) and provided the researcher with their contact details. The researcher emailed an invitation to participate in the study attaching the participant information sheet. Recruitment took place between November 2023 and January 2024.

Sample

Data saturation in reflexive TA has been commonly used, however, recently within qualitative research this concept has been criticised (Low, 2019; Malterud et al., 2016). The recommended sample size to achieve data saturation in qualitative research varies from 6-16 participants, hence it has been suggested that information power may be more useful (Braun

& Clarke, 2019). This encourages the researcher to reflect on data richness and its relevance to the research question rather than focusing on sample size (Braun & Clarke, 2022). A total of fifteen participants were identified and invited to take part in the study. Four did not respond and one consented to take part but did not proceed with the interview for an unknown reason. A total of ten participants were recruited for the study. Due to the limited sample of staff members across the NHP, participants' demographic data and job titles are not disclosed to ensure anonymity. In addition, pseudonyms were used for participants' quotes taken from the interviews reported in the results section.

Materials

The study used a semi-structured interview schedule consisting of open-ended questions with follow up prompts. This enabled the exploration of participants' experiences working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people within the NHP's traumainformed framework (See Appendix E for the full interview schedule). Existing literature informed the development of the interview schedule alongside discussions with the research supervisor. The researcher met with an expert by experience, an unaccompanied asylumseeking young person currently part of the House Project community. They provided feedback on the topics included in the interview schedule, which was amended accordingly, with a key change being a more in-depth exploration of how staff work with cultural differences. Consultation with an expert by experience who was an unaccompanied asylumseeking young person was used rather than piloting the interview with a staff member as it was important to the researcher that the voice of this group of young people was heard within the research. This also maximised interview participants as there are a limited number of staff working across the LHPs with these young people.

Procedure

Participants who responded and expressed interest in taking part in the study were given the opportunity to ask any questions before signing the consent form. Prior to the interview taking place, participants were emailed the consent form which they read and signed online before sending back to the researcher. This included providing consent for the interview to be audio-recorded. Participants were also asked to complete a demographic form at the start of the interview (Appendix F).

Interviews took place between November 2023 and January 2024 online via Microsoft Teams. Interviews were not video recorded on Microsoft Teams but the transcription function was used and the interview was audio-recorded using a separate password protected audio-recording device. No interviews were terminated and no participants withdrew their data from the study. Interviews ranged from thirty-eight minutes to 1 hour 2 minutes with an overall average of fifty-one minutes. Each participant was then given a randomly allocated number and all data was saved using this number. Participant data was stored separately in password protected folders to ensure confidentiality and anonymity. At the end of the interview participants were asked if they would like to receive the debrief form which reiterated key points linked to data storage and withdrawal, alongside information for additional support if required following the interview (Appendix G). Participants were emailed to ask if they would like to view their quotes that were included in the study's write up, seven participants accepted this offer.

Data Analysis

All ten interviews were transcribed and transcriptions were stored in an encrypted folder on a password protected laptop that only the researcher had access to. Data was stored

in accordance with Royal Holloway, University of London Ethics Committee's data management guidance.

Reflexive TA was used in the study to gain a rich, in-depth understanding of participants' views and experiences of working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people within the NHP's trauma-informed framework (Braun & Clarke, 2022). Reflexive TA offered the possibility of an inductively-orientated experiential analysis, meaning coding and theme development were driven by participants' experiences, there was no attempt to fit the data into an existing theory (Braun & Clarke, 2022). This was preferred to other qualitative methods which use more predetermined theories and frameworks.

The theoretical flexibility of reflexive TA meant it gave a voice to staff experiences of working with a marginalised group of young people, whilst locating these experiences within wider social discourses (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Further lending to reflexive TA's flexibility, the inductive analysis captured semantic and latent meanings of the data, offering both descriptions and interpretations of the data whilst drawing on patterns of meaning across participant interviews. Within the differing methods of TA, reflexive TA was used as it emphasises the importance of the researcher's subjectivity, viewing it as an essential and valuable component to research through active engagement with reflexivity throughout the research process (Braun & Clarke, 2022).

Reflexive TA follows six stages: familiarisation, data coding, initial theme generation, developing and reviewing themes, refining, defining and naming themes, and writing up (Braun & Clarke, 2022). This was not a linear process and involved repetition between phases.

Data familiarisation involved being fully immersed in the data by rereading the transcripts alongside listening to the audio recordings of each interview. Any initial thoughts

were noted related to each transcript and about the dataset as a whole. *Data coding* involved working systematically through the transcripts to identify data that is relevant and apply code labels (Appendix H). Coding of the whole dataset was carried out more than once on physical copies of the dataset to ensure nothing was overlooked. As this process progressed there was a shift from an initial semantic to a more latent level of coding.

Codes were then organised into *initial themes* which involved clustering similar codes together (Appendix I). This process was also carried out in person with the researcher's supervisor to bring about new perspectives. Re-engagement with all codes and the entire dataset helped with *developing and reviewing themes*. Discussions with the researcher's supervisor confirming definitions of themes and subthemes to ensure they told a narrative representative of the whole dataset helped with *theme refining, defining and naming*.

Participant member checking was carried out to ensure data validity whereby all participants were invited to review initial themes and a thematic map. Three participants completed member checking, they all felt that the themes effectively summarised their experiences. Based on this feedback no modifications were made to the themes. *Writing up* involved presenting the themes in a meaningful way with relevant data extracts being shared.

Quality

Elliot et al's (1999) seven-step quality framework was used to ensure the highest standards of qualitative research were met throughout the study. This framework felt the most relevant for reflexive TA due to its emphasis on the importance of reflexivity in research. Below are the framework's seven steps and how they were adhered to:

Owning one's perspective – the researcher initially specified their theoretical stance.
 The researcher kept a reflexive journal and had regular discussions with the research

supervisor. This outlined the researcher's personal perspectives and increased awareness of their own assumptions.

- Situating the sample participants' demographic information was collected to help the researcher situate the sample.
- Grounding in examples quotes from interviews are used in the results section to help demonstrate theme development. This enables the appraisal of the fit between the data and the researcher's understanding of themes.
- 4. Providing credibility checks initial codes and themes were shared with the research supervisor who has extensive experience in this field. Participant member checking was also conducted and included sharing initial themes with participants and obtaining their feedback to increase data validity. This helped ensure the raw data supported the themes and subthemes.
- 5. Coherence the themes and subthemes and relationships between them are described in detail throughout the results section. To aid understanding a thematic map visually showing this is provided.
- 6. Accomplishing general versus specific research tasks participants were recruited from different LHPs and in differing job roles within the LHPs in an attempt to enhance the generalisability of findings. However, it should be noted that participants are recruited from a specific organisation which limits the generalisability of findings due to the specific framework implemented within the LHPs.
- Resonating with readers a lay summary of the study's findings is written in an accessible way to ensure readers can understand the findings and potential implications for clinical policy and practice.

Additionally, to ensure optimal standards of reflexive TA were maintained throughout the study, Braun and Clarke's (2021) guidelines were also adhered to. This guidance outlines

twenty questions linked to ensuring adequate choice and rationale for using reflexive TA and that a well-developed and justified analysis has been conducted.

Reflexivity

Within reflexive TA, this study took an epistemological position of critical realism whereby human experiences are socially located, leading to the study's findings being interpretations of participants' experiences of working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people rather than objective, decontextualised truths (Braun & Clarke, 2022; Pilgrim 2014). The researcher viewed their subjectivity as a valuable component to the research process, however acknowledged that a level of interrogation is required to ensure subjectivity is meaningful (Braun & Clarke, 2022). The researcher remained aware of their position in relation to the social graces (Burnham, 2012), particularly their cultural background and political stance, and how this may impact their interpretation of participants' experiences of working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people.

To assist with reflexivity a reflexive journal was kept from when the proposal of the project was submitted through until completion of its write-up as reflexivity is an ongoing process (Trainor & Bundon, 2021). The journal contained the researcher's thoughts, feelings, theoretical assumptions, values and personal perspectives linked to intersectionality, which is vital so the researcher is aware of how they shape the research.

Results

An overarching theme, three themes and eight subthemes emerged from the reflexive TA of ten interviews. Several forms of a thematic map were produced before the final version, outlining the overarching theme, themes, subthemes, and the relationships between them (Figure 1).

Figure 1

Thematic Map Showing the Overarching Theme, Themes, and Subthemes From the Reflexive Thematic Analysis.



Uncertainty

Uncertainty emerged as an overarching theme, driven by the political narrative and constantly changing legislation which had a top-down systemic impact. Demonstrating this, some staff felt the political context contributed to uncertainty with policy development for unaccompanied young people at the NHP. Staff recognised that as policy informs practice, this uncertainty may filter down and be seen amongst staff working in the LHPs. This uncertainty often made it more challenging to work using a trauma-informed approach at an individual and organisational level, demonstrated throughout the themes.

Understanding Trauma

This theme referred to how staff understood these young people's trauma experiences and presentations. Staff understood that the young people had experienced *unique trauma* and had *differing trauma triggers* compared to British born young people with whom they work. Despite having experienced unique trauma, staff noticed these young people often appeared to be practically coping well and staff were *curious about such coping responses*. It was thought that understanding the trauma presentations of the young people was an important first step to building a trusting relationship.

Unique Trauma

All ten staff spoke about trauma being unique and that "young people that come into the country have usually got quite different traumas to the British born kids that we work with" (Fran). Staff felt this was particularly due to these young people's journeys often having three separate traumatic parts. As Jos said:

Not only did they witness what happened in their own country which was the reason why they had to leave, so then they had to leave their families they've already experienced and witnessed some trauma and then the journey itself is traumatic, and then arriving here in a new foreign land with new language and people who aren't welcoming, and on top of that the Home Office are always keeping you on a string.

Most staff felt that it was difficult to personally relate to or fully comprehend the traumatic experiences these young people had faced. Whilst staff acknowledged that an individual does

not have to have experienced the same trauma as someone to provide effective support, staff felt the unique journeys of the young people and their "*experience of trauma that is potentially kind of war-torn which won't be part of the white European model of care and trauma*" (Joe) can create a disconnect. As India said:

[the young people] come from war-torn countries and experienced all sorts of violence and being terribly scared of having family members killed, sometimes being the only family member left, so really trying to understand things that are so far out of our knowledge zone really.

Some staff further reflected how their own cultural backgrounds and familial experiences helped to overcome such disconnect.

Staff also noticed that part of the young people's unique trauma was the severity of their isolation compared to British born young people with whom they worked. Staff reflected on how many of the young people had no support network in the UK, often having family back in their home country creating a unique sense of longing for home. However staff acknowledged how the young people often sought comfort from each other "*having this shared experience, understanding and supporting each other which is really the way they bond (..) They're like oh we did the same journey here but in different ways*" (Jos).

Staff appeared aware that working with such trauma can trigger emotional responses within them such as feelings of sadness, helplessness, and frustration. They reported to feel contained in working with these young people's unique traumas due to having supportive managers and regular contact with the in-house psychologist which "helps us to be able to talk through anything that might have bubbled to the surface for us when we're dealing with young people's trauma because sometimes it can trigger stuff in us you know" (Anna).

Differing Trauma Triggers

Staff reported that the young people often experienced differing triggers to their unique traumatic experiences. Staff felt that the young people were the most likely to go on the house projects residential trips, yet many staff described instances on such trips which triggered traumatic responses for these young people. Callum said:

There was something about climbing the mountains that was quite retraumatising like in regards to escaping his home country and having to climb the mountains being shot at by the army.

There were also instances outside of the residential trips where the unique trauma was triggered. Ava said:

There were roadworks outside his flat and he'd likened the sounds of the drill in the road or whatever it might be to the noise of gun shots.

Staff said in these situations it took time for them to fully understand and make the link between the trauma presentation and the trigger. Staff explained that this was because often the young people appeared to manage in the moment on the residential trips, with the trauma presentation worsening in the following days. Some staff acknowledged due to these young people's unique trauma, triggers tended to be less obvious and relatable. Staff reflected how they have learnt from these situations which had increased their awareness when planning such trips and looking out for such presentations. Ben reflected:

You have to think really sensitively about every piece of work (..) like for example if young people have been on a boat crossing the channel and now we're doing raft building with them, how appropriate is that? Some staff also felt these situations could create anxiety around asking certain questions as "we don't want to open it up where it triggers previous traumas" (Jos). They identified formulations and consultations with the in-house psychologist as helpful ways of navigating such anxiety and understanding differing trauma triggers. Although some staff acknowledged that at times particularly consultation spaces were used to "manage feelings about how desperately sad it is so we do use that space possibly more to process that rather than troubleshooting or trying to make sense of the young people's behaviours" (Helen).

Curious About Coping Responses

Due to the unique traumas and differing triggers, staff were curious about young people's coping responses, "we're hearing trauma but then it's like how does that trauma come out we're not seeing it, it's confusing, it's like where is that going? What's going on here?" (Jos). This curiosity was driven by staff recognising that despite their unique traumatic experiences, the young people appeared to manage well living independently compared to other young people, "they've been through an awful lot but it's like they've learnt to almost supress it to a certain degree and just get on with it practically" (Anna). This is to the extent that wider systems have started to question if the young people needed the support that the House Projects provide. As Helen said:

Social workers have questioned whether we should be prioritising these young people on the House Projects in terms of whether they really need it, that additional support and whether they would be just fine getting a flat.

Some staff felt this coping response was due to the young people being more resilient. They felt this resilience was due to having made the journey over to the UK independently. Some acknowledged that many of the young people had secure attachments growing up rather than experiencing developmental trauma which was more common within British born young

people with whom they work. Other staff identified the young people as practical copers, a response developed which masked their potential emotional distress, "*a lot of them do struggle with PTSD and kind of anxiety but they just manage it in a different way and the only time you really hear about it is when they can't manage*" (Callum). Due to this, many staff felt it was important to regularly check in with these young people particularly when they were alone in their flats. Asking curious questions, whilst going at the young person's pace, was also identified as a helpful strategy.

However, due to the young people coping well practically, staff spoke about a risk of these young people falling through the cracks. Anna said:

They're kind of just left to get on with it like workers[from external services] just kind of seem to think they'll be fine (..) so I think as I said that can cause young people to kind of - just for the want of a better phrase - just be kind of literally left to get on with it.

This was reflected across systems within the NHP as staff acknowledged the young people were discussed less regularly in community practice meetings, consultations or in supervision. Staff experienced uncertainty as to whether this was due to the young people not needing additional support or if their ability to cope practically masked this need.

Trauma can be Hidden

This theme describes how trauma, if present for the young people, could be hidden due to unique aspects staff noticed that made understanding trauma more difficult. These included the *thin stories* the young people often had and *language and cultural differences*.

Thin Stories

All staff noticed that the young people in the context of formulations had thinner stories compared to British born young people with whom they worked. Staff felt this was

due to "having quite a big gap so we would be relying on how they're presenting now, we wouldn't know about their family history and childhood experiences" (Fran). Some staff felt this was also due to the legal system shutting down young people's stories, "because actually if you think about it in the context of immigration if you come here and you have to say a certain story to be allowed to stay then that means any other stories have to be shut down" (Callum). Staff felt at times naturally as humans they can start to incorrectly fill in the gaps in young people's stories, contributing to their actual struggles being hidden. Some staff acknowledged that it was easier to connect and build relationships with the young people who have thicker stories, meaning they are more likely to talk about their struggles. As Helen noticed:

Where you do get a rich story you hold on to it and it helps you to visualise them and kind of want to root for them a bit more, whereas sometimes the stories are they escaped conscription and you don't know much and you don't quite connect with them as much emotionally at the beginning (..) richer stories help especially when there is a language barrier you feel more connected.

However some staff acknowledged that thinner stories should not be a barrier to building a good relationship which they felt would then encourage the young people to share their struggles. Anna said:

It's just working in a way (..) get close enough to them to understand the things that trigger them, the things that make them happy, the things that you can do to just be there when times are difficult. I think that gives us enough information to be able to support these young people effectively.

Alongside the young people's thinner stories, staff commented on how the stories were often thought of as similar. Staff felt the term 'unaccompanied asylum-seeking children' wrongly indicates that these young people are a homogeneous group. The language used by wider systems to describe the journeys of the young people also contributed to their stories being thought of as similar. For example using methods of transport to describe these young people's journeys made them sound generic, the journeys "*get broken into vehicles don't they, so people will say it was a lorry it was a train it was the ship erm it was like yeah but it doesn't really have any meaning*" (Callum). Staff felt that such assumptions of similarity can hide the young people's individual and different experiences of trauma.

Language and Cultural Differences

Language and cultural differences can make it more difficult for these young people, who already have thin stories, to communicate their struggles. India commented:

So English isn't their first language but their cultural backgrounds are different, and I suppose in terms of even stuff around physical touch, being able to kind of maybe try and read what young people are thinking by body language, a lot of stuff around eye contact erm things that we really don't understand.

All ten staff spoke about language being a barrier when working with the young people. There was uncertainty around how House Projects work with the language barrier and staff were navigating this in different ways. This included speaking slower and individual check ins to assess understanding and provide the opportunity to ask questions. There were differing uses of interpreters, with some staff describing how using young people from previous cohorts as interpreters had been effective. A key challenge when using interpreters was at times there has been a "*couple of incidents where it's got a little heated if translations are not*

done correctly (..) I'm sure it's easy to make mistakes and then that can upset or offend" (Fran), which may further prevent these young people talking about their struggles.

Whilst young people may struggle to communicate their difficulties due to the language barrier, staff also acknowledged how the young people may have differing cultural relationships with mental health, contributing further to their potential trauma being hidden. Staff recognised that the young people may have a different understanding of mental health or it may have a more negative connotation, "*they said I've been diagnosed with PTSD but that doesn't even exist in my country like mental health doesn't exist like there isn't awareness of it*" (Fran).

Staff also described a narrative whereby the young people appeared more grateful compared to British born young people with whom they work. Staff felt this could be due to multiple factors including feeling like they have been rescued by the care system (compared to British born young people who might view the care system as negative) and viewing life differently from British born young people, appreciating the privilege of being connected to the House Project and getting a tenancy for a flat. Some staff felt discomfort at the concept of young people feeling like they had to appear grateful as staff questioned how able the young people felt to voice their concerns. As India said:

So these young people thinking like actually you're going to be helping me to find a home and you're going to be helping me to do all of this stuff, and if I say I don't want to do it or if I'm really rude to you or I'm feeling really angry about something actually that might mean that I'm just going to get sent back to that war-torn country.
Towards Establishing Secure Attachments

This theme referred to the recommendations that staff made to enhance the traumainformed support provided for these young people, helping them to form trusting and safe relationships, moving towards establishing secure attachments. This included through *creative connection* to help facilitate conversations about the current support, ensuring *cultural competency* and working together using a *whole systems approach*. Such recommendations were thought about at an individual and systemic level to help these young people form secure attachments in a safe environment.

Creative Connection

Staff identified that connecting with the young people was important in building a trusting relationship. Staff recognised that due to language and cultural differences, connecting with young people must be achieved in creative ways. For example, "*thinking about activities that it's, you know, not vital to be able to speak English and just where any young person can go and kind of enjoy themselves*" (Fran). This included connecting over food "*because it's so important to everyone and it doesn't matter about background experience you know coming together to eat, cooking for each other*" (Ava). Staff also acknowledged the importance of empathy when connecting with these young people. Anna said:

I always just try to put myself in their position, so if this was me at this age who had been through all of this what would I need to hear and what would I need from the people around me, erm you know I just try to always be the person who I would have needed if the roles were reversed.

Although overall staff felt contained when working with these young people particularly through reflective spaces, it was reported that staff connecting and talking about

how to support the young people was "an area where we need to start asking a little bit more" (Ben). This included creating greater connection between existing House Projects who support young people with this background as "it would be probably useful just to see how others would relay that same message linked to cultural differences" (Donna). Staff suggested it would be helpful to use community of practice meetings or set up a separate space to connect and share experiences linked to supporting the young people. It was recognised by staff that by sharing and learning from such experiences, it would help to improve support for these young people and build trusting relationships, moving towards establishing secure attachments.

Getting the conversation going around working with the young people was suggested as a starting point within the NHP, helping to connect those working with or interested in the support provided for these young people.

Let's bring a group of staff together that want to particularly start to think about what have we learned? What might we do differently? How might formulations work in a different way for these children? And where else might we get information from? (..) And then hopefully from that there will be things that we'll want to work on and develop from those conversations.

Cultural Competency

Alongside creative connection, staff felt that ensuring cultural competency was an integral part of building trusting relationships with these young people. It was reported that it was vital for the ORCHIDS framework to be viewed through a cultural lens for these young people to create a shared understanding helping to facilitate the formation of secure attachments. Joe said:

Ownership and responsibility depending on where they come from if you think about kind of society and the gender politics (..) an unaccompanied asylum-seeking young female what is their experience of taking responsibility if they've come from societies where you know women kind of are you know second class and are not involved in decision making (..) you've got to recognise the context and the journeys for these young people because you've got to change your approach to kind of, not to mitigate, but to enable them because of their experiences to engage fully in what we have to offer.

Staff recognised that there was uncertainty as to how staff could adapt ORCHIDS when working with the young people. There was an acknowledgement that the young people "*may be doing the group sessions and getting the support from the facilitators but they're probably not uploading as much evidence as everybody else because of that accessibility issue*" (Ben). The concern was this could potentially leave the young people at a disadvantage in regard to employment and further education opportunities compared to other young people on the project.

Staff recognised taking self-responsibility to ensure cultural competency, "sometimes a little bit of common sense and life skills and just getting to know that young person find out what their interests are (..) I think it's just really understanding their culture, doing your own research around this" (Donna). This also included staff acknowledging their own background and recognising if culturally there may be a gap and connecting these young people with someone who can fill that gap. As Jos said "my young person's social worker is white British female and she's amazing but recognised the importance of connecting the young person with a grand mentor of the same cultural background to him". Creating such cultural connections would help to facilitate these young people moving towards establishing secure attachments.

There was uncertainty around what training was currently available to staff linked to supporting the young people and a need was identified to check in with House Projects to see what this might look like. Staff felt training around difference and legal processes, including more specific aspects such as when the young people become parents would be helpful. Staff said it would be important to think about the format of such trainings as there was a sense of online training fatigue.

Using existing forums like the community of practice to have kind of themed sharing of good practise and discussions, or having, you know, a space at conferences and events that are already happening to have the dialogue would be good (..) If it was you know led by young people with lived experience and was you know was very engaging, it would need to be quite sort of rich in experience (Helen).

Some staff felt that such training would only be beneficial for House Projects that supported these young people, whereas others felt that training around understanding cultural differences may be of value to the whole service. It was thought that this would be helpful for staff who may work with the young people in the future and also for staff who are already working with British born young people from different cultures.

Whole Systems Approach

Staff emphasised that creative connection and cultural competency should be within the context of a whole systems approach, with all services working together to help build trusting relationships with these young people, facilitating the formation of secure attachments. Staff reported that the sharing of knowledge between wider systems has been helpful, describing several instances where they had sought advice from wider systems including the immigration unit and the specialist worker for unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. However, staff acknowledged that a barrier to such joint working is when wider systems, particularly social care, are overwhelmed, "*what's difficult is the numbers and work generated in wider systems*" (Callum). It was reported that when wider systems become overwhelmed this can cause delays with asylum claims being processed, creating uncertainty for staff at the NHP, "often I get asked like 'why is my mate's claim come through when mine hasn't?'" (Fran).

Alongside systems sharing information, all ten staff acknowledged the importance of the location where these young people are placed, reporting that their House Project areas were diverse and "*resource rich erm it's not just a House Project there's other charities you know within the vicinity that people can get support there*" (Ben). Staff stressed the importance of the young people "*being connected to their culture, their kind of beliefs, their religion, and so they need access to all those things and we need to understand all those things(..) I think you know actually you're just kind of asking for more mental health conditions if you put them in say the middle of nowhere*" (Callum).

Staff felt greater diversity is needed across all systems, both at the NHP and wider systems. Staff described the Care Leavers National Movement (CLNM) as the heart of the NHP yet acknowledged that none of the young people were yet to be represented there. Whilst acknowledging language and cultural differences as a contributing factor to the lack of representation, staff felt improving the accessibility of such forums would also help. As Donna said:

Allow them to have a bigger platform where they can shout this and they can say oh you know this is what we're about, this is what we do, erm this is what CLNM is and this is what an unaccompanied-asylum seeking young person feels, erm this is what I would like to you know make sure that all

house projects have you know interpreters or someone that we can use to support our sessions, and feeding into that nationally as well.

Going forward, it was thought that a whole systems approach was needed to develop policies as "we're in our real infancy in terms of policy-making for these young people (..) for that wider policy-making I think that we know very little and I think it's based on assumptions" (India). Staff found psychologists' input helpful and felt they are needed in the development of policies for the support for these young people.

Staff felt in order to have a whole systems approach, it was essential to have "the skills of kind of sense checking where services are and where their personal and political views come from, erm the horrendous narrative that sits around these young people permeates into society and (...) you've got to make sure people working with that young person have the same approach" (Joe). Staff felt a whole systems approach to policy development within a trauma-informed framework would help these young people form trusting relationships with staff across settings, moving towards establishing secure attachments. Staff had optimism about their trauma-informed way of working, yet acknowledged a barrier to adopting a whole service approach when external services were not working in the same way.

Discussion

The study used a qualitative design to address its main aim of exploring the experience of staff working in a trauma-informed framework of practice with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people who are leaving care. The study's findings will be discussed in relation to existing literature, as will the study's strengths and limitations, followed by its implications for clinical practice and future research.

Main Findings

In line with a trauma-informed approach, it was found that staff had a good perception of the young people's trauma, captured within the theme 'understanding trauma'. Staff perceived there to be *unique trauma* and *differing trauma triggers* compared to the British born young people with whom they worked. In line with previous research, staff also conceptualised the young people's trauma in three separate stages: in their country of origin, on their journey to the UK, and upon arrival in the UK (Sanchez-Clemente et al., 2023). Such understanding and recognition of trauma is contrary to that of the general consensus of staff across child services in the literature, where a need was identified for training on working with these young people's trauma to better support their unique needs (Chase et al., 2008; Vostanis et al., 2024; Ward, 2022). This demonstrates how working in a trauma-informed framework can address this gap and develop practitioners' knowledge and skills in working with these young people's unique trauma.

Staff working across the two LHPs identified a key factor in aiding their understanding of these young people's trauma to be the process of completing a team formulation for each young person led by the in-house psychologist. Team formulations were an integral part of a trauma-informed approach helping staff understand more challenging behaviours including their functions and triggers, shifting the narrative from 'what is wrong with you?' to 'what has happened to you?' (Johnstone et al., 2018). Such formulations led by a psychologist have been shown to facilitate empathy and less blame towards young people, encouraging their needs to be met and their behaviour viewed through a trauma lens (Martin et al., 2022).

In addition to guiding the completion of team formulations, the in-house psychologists provide consultations and reflective group supervisions to staff. Such spaces are integral to providing an effective trauma-informed approach (Galvin et al., 2022) and staff felt this alongside having supportive managers helped them to feel contained and manage difficult emotions linked to these young people's journeys. The provision of such spaces and senior staff being supportive and open to staff suggests that trauma-informed leadership is present at the NHP, facilitating containment within the system and viewing it through a trauma lens (Menschner & Maul, 2016).

A further aspect of understanding trauma was staff being *curious about coping responses* these young people displayed. Despite their traumatic experiences, the young people appeared to manage well living independently compared to other young people, with some staff acknowledging their resilience. As per the wider literature, staff recognised that this may be a coping strategy to manage an unstable potentially threatening environment, whereby these young people avoid addressing their past traumas as it does not feel safe to process them, so they appear to be coping well (Ehntholt & Yule, 2006).

Alternatively, some staff acknowledged the possibility that despite the young people's extensive traumatic experiences, not all of them go on to develop mental health struggles (Rodriguez & Dobler, 2021). This may be as the young people's emotional distress can be seen as a normal response considering their traumatic experiences, and their distress can be reduced if they receive appropriate support whilst adapting to their new country (Ballard-Kang, 2021). Consequently, the trauma-informed support from the NHP may help reduce emotional distress as it enhances factors found to promote resilience in such young people including fostering positive relationships, integration of old and new cultures and living in less restrictive settings (Rodriguez & Dobler, 2021). Hence, the nature of the trauma-informed environment and support at the NHP could explain why the young people were coping well. In line with a trauma-informed approach, having experienced significant trauma, staff recognised the importance of regularly checking in with these young people regardless of if they appeared to be coping well.

Staff identified unique additional barriers the young people experience which if trauma was present may explain why they were not displaying symptoms, captured in the theme 'trauma can be hidden'. One barrier was the *thin stories* these young people often had, a challenge recognised in previous research which found that little information is known about the young people's lives post-migration (Wade, 2011). The young people not sharing their stories with practitioners may be a coping strategy to help navigate the asylum process distancing themselves from the label of 'asylum-seeker' and its attached stigma (Chase, 2010). This is problematic as it means that these young people do not get the appropriate support for their individual unique needs. In line with a trauma-informed approach, staff felt that young people having thin stories should not be a barrier to building a good relationship. Supporting this, previous research described young people not talking about their stories as a functional distrust which can be broken down as a trusting relationship is developed (Kohli, 2006).

Another barrier staff identified as contributing to potential trauma being hidden is *language and cultural differences*, with such differences being known to create barriers to these young people communicating their needs (Craig & Warfa, 2006). All staff acknowledged language as a barrier with these young people, yet there was no standardised use of addressing this across the LHPs. Whilst there were creative ways of overcoming the language barrier, some staff did not use interpreters even within individual sessions. Using interpreters is recommended as the best way to provide an equitable and accessible service particularly when working with refugees (Patel et al., 2018). However, struggles with interpreters particularly with refugee and migrant populations are acknowledged including a lack of consistency, fear of stigma, breach of confidentiality especially when the interpreter is from the same community, and misunderstandings of mental health concepts due to cultural differences in language (Krystallidou et al., 2024).

Staff acknowledged that due to cultural differences these young people may have a different understanding of mental health. For example, in the literature it acknowledges the western notion of catharsis that it is important for an individual who has experienced trauma to tell their story (Portnoy & Ward, 2020). However, often these young people are wary of addressing past trauma as they understand a sense of coping and wellbeing as leaving the past behind and to focus on the future (Chase et al., 2008). These young people can also have negative perceptions of mental health and may not consider it a priority (Demazure et al., 2022). This highlights cultural differences in the understanding of mental health and coping strategies and may explain why trauma if present in these young people may be hidden.

A further cultural difference staff reported was that young people appeared more grateful compared to British born young people whom they work with. Staff ideas on the reasoning for this are in line with previous research. This includes due to their past experiences these young people have a different outlook on life and a determination to succeed in the UK (Groark et al., 2011). They also may fear negative consequences including deportation of expressing how they truly feel, making them appear grateful (Hynes, 2009). Some staff felt discomfort at the labelling and notion of these young people appearing grateful. Such feelings of discomfort may be triggered as these young people appearing grateful may unintentionally and even unconsciously result in staff viewing young people as 'deserving' and 'undeserving' of support (Kohli, 2006). This was particularly in the context of these young people appearing grateful, alongside them sharing in-depth accounts about the extensive suffering endured. This led to an admiration of their resilience and practitioners were more likely to view them as 'deserving' of support. The young people pick up on such notions with many reporting they have been categorised as 'undeserving' mainly by social services (Chase, 2010).

Staff made recommendations towards improving trauma-informed practice for these young people captured in the theme 'towards establishing secure attachments'. This draws on attachment theory (Bowlby, 1973) whereby staff at the NHP are seen as the attachment figures or 'secure base' from which these young people can work towards independence. Whilst it may be difficult for the NHP to replace these young people's key attachment relationships, research suggests that they can develop strong emotional connections that may fulfil some of the key attachment functions by providing a sense of closeness, safety and security during stressful situations (Juang et al., 2018). For this to happen staff must appear reliable and available, be practically helpful through having knowledge of the asylum-seeking process, yet emotionally attuned to the complexities these young people face through cultural understanding (Kohli, 2011).

In addition, staff acknowledged that *creative connection* is needed between themselves as they reported that support provided for these young people is not typically discussed in reflective spaces, consultations and meetings between all the LHPs. There is a notion in the wider care systems that young people who display more challenging behaviours understandably receive more attention, yet this often comes at a cost for those who are doing well (Mendes & Baidawi, 2012). This means that the current support for these young people does not get discussed and it is unknown whether this meets their identified unique needs. Staff reported the need to ask more curious questions and bring together those currently working with these young people to share experiences. Teams coming together to share experiences when implementing such an approach has been found to lead to more effective trauma-informed practice with these young people (Borbon et al., 2023).

Another aspect of 'towards establishing secure attachments' is *cultural competency*. Staff and services are deemed culturally competent when they offer culturally appropriate care to all those with whom they work. Yet there is emerging critique of the term cultural

competency which suggests that individuals can never be fully competent in all cultures as there is always more that an individual can learn (Lekas et al., 2020). As such there may be greater value in staff and the NHP aiming for a position of cultural humility. Cultural humility is having a respectful attitude towards individuals from other cultures, it is a process of critical self-reflection which includes challenging our own cultural biases with the recognition that such learning is a lifelong process (Foronda, 2020).

All staff acknowledged the importance of having a cultural understanding of each young person they work with, often taking on self-responsibility to educate themselves. Within a trauma-informed approach this relates to the concept of cultural safety, defined as "an environment which is safe for people; where there is no assault, challenge or denial of their identity, of who they are and what they need. It is about shared respect, shared meaning, shared knowledge, and experience, of learning together with dignity, and truly listening" (Williams, 1999, p. 213). Culturally appropriate trauma-informed support has been shown to increase perceived safety, a main aim of a trauma-informed approach (Ballard-Kang, 2021). Staff appeared to enable young people to maintain a continuous bond with individuals within their own culture, as well as helping them form new relationships with peers and adults in the UK. This is recommended as the best way for these young people to navigate two different cultures for optimal wellbeing outcomes (Rodriguez & Dobler, 2021).

Whilst staff had a good understanding of trauma and working with trauma, some staff felt further training on navigating the unique trauma and cultural needs of these young people would be helpful. This also included knowledge on the legal processes associated with these young people. This is reflective of the additional needs of these young people recognised in the literature, indicating the adaptations required to the trauma-informed framework to meet these young people's unique needs (Sanchez-Clemente et al., 2023). This supports the notion that the exact nature of any trauma-informed approach will need to be tailored depending on the young person's experience of trauma (van der Kolk, 2014).

Staff further acknowledged the importance of a *whole systems approach* to traumainformed practice when working with these young people. This can be considered in the context of systemic practice within clinical psychology (Dallos & Draper, 2015). Systemic practice recognises that an individual is not isolated but part of a larger system, and problems can arise in the context of individuals relationships and interactions with others within this system. Currently at times there are relational challenges between the NHP and external services due to their differing approaches to working which negatively impacted staff and the provision of support for young people. Hence, if services involved with these young people worked together within a trauma-informed approach which aims to better develop relationships and attachments, this may provide better support for young people and staff.

Joint up working when supporting these young people is a key recommendation in recent guidance for improving trauma-informed care for asylum-seekers (Lusmen & Kreppner, 2024). Staff felt that supporting these young people in resource rich areas with services working together best met their needs. Supporting this, when implementing a trauma-informed approach, by establishing partnerships with schools, charities and religious groups, this led to more effective trauma-informed practice with these young people (Borbon et al., 2023). Further, the integration of community partners in trauma-informed training and service programs can improve its content and effectiveness (Topitzes et al., 2019). It is also essential that the young people are placed in locations whereby they feel a sense of belonging and connection to their identity (Chase, 2013).

However, navigating joint up working can be challenging as the evidence base to support practice and policy with these young people, particularly those leaving care is scarce

(Gullo et al., 2021). This means that not all services working with the NHP will be implementing the same approach, making joint up working more challenging. Demonstrating this, staff reported how wider systems supporting these young people, particularly in social care settings, questioned if they required such support as they appeared to be coping well practically. Leaders at the NHP described attempts to educate and help wider systems see these young people through a trauma lens, demonstrating trauma-informed leadership (Menschner & Maul, 2016).

Strengths and Limitations

A key strength of the study was its qualitative exploration. The study gave a voice to the experience of staff in a novel area of research. The perspectives of staff and service users in qualitative research is integral to ensuring services and policies are meeting their needs. To give a voice to service users within the study, it included expert-by-experience involvement with an unaccompanied asylum-seeking young person who provided feedback on the topics used in the interview schedule. This led to interview schedule modifications including a greater focus on exploring cultural adaptations and also using more accessible language. However, piloting the interview schedule with a staff member may have led to differing or additional modifications. Moreover, the study used member reflections to obtain general thoughts on the analysis and feedback on the initial themes and subthemes. To further improve the credibility of the study's findings it could have used an independent reviewer to examine the coded transcripts and provide feedback on the themes, more in line with the qualitative quality guidelines (Elliot et al., 1999).

Selection bias may have occurred through the use of purposive and snowball sampling methods. At the time of recruitment there were three LHPs where unaccompanied young people were part of the community. As only two of the three LHPs were recruited from, project leads could have recommended staff who they knew worked well with these young

people, potentially skewing the data. Although interviewing ten participants from varying job roles, including those on the frontline and those in management and leadership roles, allowed for varying experiences. This also improved generalisability of the study's findings within the NHP, however made comparing experiences more difficult as staff were coming from differing stances.

It should further be considered whether the study's findings can be generalised outside of the NHP. When considering the wider context of children's social care services, there is a general consensus reported that services are overwhelmed, underfunded, and experience high levels of staff burnout with a high staff turnover (Colton & Roberts, 2007). Such struggles were not prominent in the current study, and it is therefore important to acknowledge the uniqueness of the framework which underpins the NHP's way of working which may contribute to participants having a more positive experience. Whilst the NHP employs a specific framework and way of working which may limit the generalisability of these findings, the framework is underpinned by trauma-informed principles and the NHP recommendations for improvements to their practice are in line with recent guidelines for all professionals working with unaccompanied young people (Lusmen & Kreppner, 2024). This suggests that the framework at the NHP is in line with universal recommendations on using a trauma-informed approach with these young people and could help inform wider services attempting to implement this approach.

Ensuring confidentiality of the participants was essential to facilitate open and transparent interviews. For confidentiality and anonymity to be upheld, participant demographic information, although collected, was not disclosed within the study reducing its generalisability. Additionally, participants might have worried about being identified, particularly as frontline staff knew the study was open for all staff at the NHP including leaders, could have impacted upon their responses leading to social desirability bias. The

researcher took steps to mitigate this by assuring confidentiality and also asking participants if they wanted to review their quotes planned to be included within the study's write up. However it is unknown whether such steps can erase social desirability completely, indicating the study's findings should be interpreted cautiously.

Although the researcher had experience working in a trauma-informed approach, they lacked experience working in a social care setting with unaccompanied young people. The study is also situated within a current rife political context. These factors could have influenced the study's findings as the researcher's skills, values, and experiences can impact their interpretation of the data (Braun & Clarke, 2022). However, the researcher kept a reflexive journal throughout the research process and had regular discussions with the research supervisor which helped acknowledge their contribution to the research.

Implications and Recommendations

The findings from this study provide important clinical implications. This study is the first to qualitatively explore the experience of staff at the NHP working in a trauma-informed framework of practice with unaccompanied young people who are leaving care. This study has contributed novel findings to help inform practice and policy for children's services when working with these young people, a body of research which is currently scare particularly for those who are leaving care (Gullo et al., 2021). Despite the study's limitations, it provides valuable insights into how implementing trauma-informed practice can help staff to better support unaccompanied young people in a social care context. It is insufficient to just deliver trauma-informed interventions to these young people. Rather, it is recommended that services consider incorporating an organisational level approach which encompasses trauma-informed leadership. For example, leaders who understand that others and themselves may struggle with past or current traumatic experiences who are able to recognise the signs of struggling and communicate compassionately, Such leaders should facilitate an environment where staff

feel heard and protected whilst ensuring staff have the knowledge and skills to interact compassionately and provide trauma-informed interventions. Such practice should also be embedded into service policy. This means staff feel more contained within a potentially traumatised system which can also help improve care for young people.

A key recommendation for the NHP and wider children's services is to harness lived experience, an important part of a trauma-informed approach. This means ensuring these young people are involved when developing trauma-informed policies. These young people's lived experiences are invaluable and they are best placed to help develop appropriate support. For the NHP speaking with these young people can improve understanding on viewing the ORCHIDS framework through a cultural lens, as well as developing further training addressing the gaps in supporting their unique trauma. All children's services can benefit from providing training on working with trauma and difference, best developed and facilitated when done jointly with young people from relevant backgrounds. It is further recommended that children's services have the support of a psychologist at an individual staff level and an organisational level when developing trauma-informed approaches and policies. All staff at the NHP valued having the support of psychologists in containing the system, contributing to developing trainings and frameworks, and saw such support as integral to continued development.

It should be acknowledged that many children's services, particularly in social care, have not been created implementing trauma-informed practice. Developing and transforming to such practice may be challenging for some services, particularly in the context of political legislative restraints and a lack of resources. Therefore, it is recommended that in such instances services acknowledge the importance of the location within which they place these young people to prevent further traumatic experiences. This includes ensuring these are in resource rich areas with accessible support for their unique needs, and that they provide a

sense of belonging whilst enabling connection to their identity. This is important for the NHP to consider when thinking about other more remote LHPs having these young people join their communities. Additionally, it is suggested to employ a specialist worker for unaccompanied young people who can help educate others about their needs. It is also essential for those supporting these young people to share their experiences internally within their teams and externally with wider services to learn and guide each other with developing the support for these young people.

The NHP would benefit from future research exploring the experience of staff working with unaccompanied young people across more LHPs as they start to support the increasing number of these young people. It is noted that the two LHPs from which the study recruited are known to be excellent at working within the trauma-informed framework. Hence it would be helpful to obtain the experiences of those working in less established LHPs with these young people for comparison. It is important that future research at the NHP also explores the young people's experiences of receiving support within a trauma-informed framework to ensure that such support is meeting their needs. The young people's experiences can then be compared to the experience of staff, with both perspectives leading to optimal service provision.

It would also be helpful to explore the experience of staff in wider children's systems working with these young people. This includes those who may have implemented traumainformed practice for comparison to the current study and to improve generalisability. This can also include services who may not have implemented such practice for comparison. Exploring the experience of staff across wider services would also enable participants demographic information and occupation to be included within the study write up helping the reader to better situate the sample. It would also be useful to obtain the experience of staff who are creating legislation linked to these young people to understand their thinking and

allow for comparison to staff experiences who are working on the frontline. The field would also benefit from future research developing tools to monitor and evaluate the implementation of trauma-informed practice with these young people.

Conclusions

This study used a qualitative approach, applying reflexive TA to understand the experience of staff working in a trauma-informed framework of practice with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people who are leaving care. Despite acknowledged limitations, the study has highlighted the NHP's innovative framework to supporting young people and staff, facilitating understanding of working with unaccompanied young people's unique needs in a social care setting. The study's findings suggest that implementing trauma-informed practice when working with unaccompanied young people is beneficial for them and staff. The findings highlight important considerations for these young people and staff which can inform policy and wider children's services. However, the political legislative restraints and uncertainty surrounding these young people are acknowledged and may make implementing trauma-informed practice more challenging. Future research should focus on exploring staff and young people's experiences of trauma-informed practice across a range of children's services. Alongside this, it is important to develop tools to monitor and evaluate the implementation of trauma-informed practice.

Chapter 2:

The Experience of Staff Working in Social Care, Mental Health, Education, and Criminal Justice Settings with Young People Leaving Care

Abstract

It is recognised globally that care leavers experience more negative outcomes compared to their non-care experienced peers. With often complex trauma backgrounds, care leavers require holistic support, yet this tends to breakdown during the transition from care. Existing reviews focused on young people's experiences of leaving care, yet to achieve optimal service provision it is important to also hear staff perspectives.

This review aimed to systematically examine staff experiences in social care, mental health, education, and criminal justice settings working with young people transitioning or preparing to transition out of the care system. Studies had to be empirical, peer-reviewed, written or translated into English, and have a qualitative design. Studies samples consisted of staff working across the four settings supporting such young people.

Searches conducted on three databases: PsycINFO, Web of Science, and Scopus, resulted in fourteen studies for inclusion. Studies were critically appraised using the CASP qualitative checklist. Findings were analysed using thematic synthesis, developing three themes and eight subthemes. Findings showed staff had a 'recognition of young people's needs' particularly their *mental health needs* and *relational needs*. Yet 'system complexities' including *reactive services*, *lack of continuity*, and *insufficient resources and training* were identified as barriers to meeting these recognised needs. It is conceptualised this had a 'negative impact on staff', working in *overwhelmed teams*, developing *a sense of helplessness* potentially resulting in *poor staff retention*.

Findings suggest that systems require the implementation of trauma-informed practice, with increased funding to employ trauma-informed leadership facilitating top-down change. This could include the formation of transitional services providing continuity of care and reducing staff pressures. Future research should explore staff experiences supporting

young people transitioning out of care across settings and countries to increase generalisability of findings. Longitudinal studies should be considered to observe changes across time when implementing service changes.

Introduction

Background

Young people typically leave care at the age of sixteen to eighteen years old depending on country specific laws and policies (Häggman-Laitila et al., 2020). For example, in the UK, a care leaver is defined as an individual who has been in the care of the Local Authority for a period of thirteen weeks or more spanning their sixteenth birthday (The Children (Leaving Care) Act, 2000). Care leavers are expected to become independent and transition to adulthood much earlier than non-care experienced individuals, whilst lacking the support systems to do this (Pound & Sims-Schouten, 2022). Whilst services do exist to support young people during this transition, provision is inconsistent across countries due to differences in cultural practices, approaches to child protection policies, and funding in child welfare services (Mendes & Snow, 2016).

Demonstrating this, synthesised data from ten countries regarding leaving care legislation in different jurisdictions, found six of the countries had targeted legislation regarding entitlements for care leavers (Argentina, England, Norway, Romania, South Africa, and Canada) (Van Breda et al., 2020). Further in seven of the countries, care leavers had the option to remain in their current placement (i.e., extended care) after reaching the age of eighteen (England, Netherlands, Norway, Romania, South Africa, Switzerland, and two Canadian provinces). In addition to the global variations in legislation, it was found that even when legislation is in place for care leavers, little support is provided in practice (Strahl et al., 2021). This suggests that on a global scale, the needs of care leavers are not being met during their transition out of care, with the disadvantage faced by the care experienced community described as "the civil rights issue of our time" (MacAlister, 2022, p. 24).

Care Leavers Needs and Outcomes

Children in care have often experienced developmental trauma such as significant abuse or neglect, usually from a caregiver or where a caregiver has failed to protect them from this (Rodriguez & Dobler, 2021). Such experiences in early childhood can disrupt the formation of secure attachments leading to difficulties forming relationships in adulthood. As such, the social, emotional and mental health needs of looked after children are significantly higher than the general population (DfE, 2024). This implies that when young people leave care such difficulties will likely continue. Young people can experience further trauma from being in care itself, for example placement breakdowns are frequent and placement instability is associated with a more problematic transition from care (Stein, 2008). The transition out of care can also be traumatic, particularly if this occurs suddenly without preparation, too early considering the care leaver's developmental phase, without sufficient support, and without necessary continuity of care (Häggman-Laitila et al., 2020).

Consequently, care leavers have worse outcomes compared to the general population, with this recognised as a worldwide phenomenon (Häggman-Laitila et al., 2018). This includes care leavers being more likely to be undereducated due to poor school attendance and attainment, unemployed, experience financial and housing struggles, suffer from mental health difficulties and lack social support (Gunawardena & Stich, 2021). Only 6% of care leavers aged nineteen to twenty-one years old go into higher education and those that do are nearly twice as likely to drop out compared to their peers (DfE, 2019). Young people leaving care are also overrepresented in the criminal justice system (Hunter et al., 2023) and are more likely to be young parents (Roberts, 2017). Care leavers with differences which may require additional or adapted support including disabilities, differing cultural backgrounds, and those

from the LGBTQ+ community, experience enhanced struggles when transitioning out of the care system (Crous et al., 2020; Spurway et al., 2023; Ward, 2011).

This highlights how young people leaving care require holistic support from multiple services to best meet their often complex needs (Häggman-Laitila et al., 2020). It should be acknowledged that not all care leavers experience poor outcomes, yet those who struggle with adjustment to leaving care are more likely to have gaps in multi-agency support during this transition (Mann-Feder & Goyette, 2019).

Young People's Experiences of Transitioning Out of Care

Due to previous trauma experiences and the breakdown of familial relationships, young people establishing good relationships with practitioners is essential to providing effective support across settings including social care, higher education, and criminal justice (Jobe & Gorin, 2013; Pinkney & Walker, 2020; Staines et al., 2023). However, such relational needs of young people transitioning out of care are often neglected, with young people feeling better continuity and sustained contacts in their collaborative relationships with professionals is needed, extending beyond crisis situations and after leaving care (Schwartz, 2017). Young people feel the support they receive, usually from multiple services, lacks consistency as a whole, with them recognising their support often falls to an individual staff member in a single service (Kaasinen et al., 2022). High staff turnover was also described by young people as a barrier to establishing secure relationships during the transition out of care (Ridley et al., 2016).

A systematic review exploring young people's experiences of social support during their transition from care identified the qualities that young people valued in their relationships with professionals (Hiles et al., 2013). Such values included consistency and longevity, reliability, showing an interest and desire to help, holding positive but realistic

expectations of them, and having access to support out of hours. When young people described positive experiences of leaving care these qualities were present in their relationships with professionals.

Further, various programmes for young people leaving care have been implemented worldwide to enhance support during the transition, yet a systematic review found that only half of these programmes provide comprehensive support (Häggman-Laitila et al., 2020). Whilst care leavers were generally satisfied with the content of such programmes, they reported a need for more autonomy and involvement in the preparation for leaving care. This would help empower care leavers to establish a new adult identity to help manage independent living (Daly, 2012).

Staff Experiences of Supporting Young People Leaving Care

It is important to understand practitioners' experiences of supporting young people leaving care to meet the identified relational needs of young people and form collaborative relationships, which may be more difficult due to the young people's trauma backgrounds (Devaney et al., 2023). It has been found that staff feel they lack the knowledge and ability to cope with the complex emotional and behavioural struggles of children in care, made worse by poor working conditions including heavy workloads, poor pay, and limited supervision (Colton & Roberts, 2007). Consequently, professionals from fourteen disciplines across children's services in Ireland described themselves as working in a 'traumatised and traumatising system' (McElvaney & Tatlow-Golden, 2016). In higher education settings in the UK there is a growing concern for increased staff stress and burnout due to higher workloads and an increase in the need to support young people with complex mental health struggles (Brewster et al., 2022).

Additionally, when the perspectives of both care leavers and their case workers in Israel were explored, whilst they agreed on some challenges during the transition including limited financial resources and the lack of support from parents, there were also differences in challenges raised (Sulimani-Aidan & Melkman, 2018). These included case workers recognising the low awareness and realisation of rights that care leavers had, yet care leavers did not recognise this as a challenge. Care leavers put more emphasis on their sense of loneliness being a struggle during the transition, whilst case workers acknowledged this they failed to recognise it as a main challenge for care leavers. This demonstrates how research exploring perspectives of both young people leaving care and practitioners who guide them through this transition provides a more comprehensive understanding to inform practice and policy.

Summary

Systematic reviews across countries have predominantly focused on evaluating care leavers outcomes and intervention effectiveness (Häggman-Laitila et al., 2020; O'Donnell et al., 2020; Taylor et al., 2021), and care leavers experiences of transitioning out of care (Häggman-Laitila et al., 2018; Hiles et al., 2013). Research exploring staff experiences, whilst acknowledging at times their job roles can be rewarding, highlights mostly negative perspectives across settings (Brewster et al., 2022; Colton & Roberts, 2007; McElvaney & Tatlow-Golden, 2016). When looking to improve practice, it is important to listen to the voices of all those working with these vulnerable young people, to obtain a better understanding of the challenges that professionals experience, and to identify opportunities for developing best practice (McElvaney & Tatlow-Golden, 2016).

Previous Reviews

To date, one systematic review has explored practitioners' experiences of working with young people transitioning out of care (Gill et al., 2020). It identified the need for better service provision, increased resources to enable practitioners to provide more effective services, role clarity, specialised training, and practitioners expressed frustration over policies that were difficult to implement in practice. However, this review solely focused on the experiences of supporting a subgroup of care leavers who are young parents, limiting its generalisability. It also included foster carers experience who take on a more caregiver role compared to professionals, as well as including practitioners' experiences of working with children in care as well as those transitioning out of care. A further systematic review was conducted exploring the effect of provisions on the mental health of young adult care leavers, yet of the six studies included only one looked at practitioner perspectives (Rice & O'Connor, 2023).

Additionally, two scoping reviews were conducted (Blair et al., 2024; Prendergast et al., 2024). The first explored the provision of allied health professional services, specifically speech and language therapy, occupational health, and arts-based therapy for children in care and young people leaving care (Blair et al., 2024). It identified several barriers to the accessibility of allied health professional services and a need for joint up working between multidisciplinary teams. Yet, only one of the thirteen studies included in the review explored professional perspectives, with the rest focusing on children in care and leaving care experiences. The second review explored international barriers and enablers to care leavers engagement with support (Prendergast et al., 2024). It identified a need for flexible and accessible services, a gradual introduction to the aftercare concept and a proactive approach by professionals, particularly immediately after leaving care. Again, of the eighteen studies included in the review two were a mixed sample of care leavers and professional

perspectives, with only one study solely exploring professionals' perspectives. It should also be acknowledged that scoping reviews do not consider the quality of the included studies limiting the validity of their findings (Peters et al., 2015).

Aims of the Current Review

The current review aims to add to the literature by solely exploring the experience of staff working with young people leaving care, to provide a shared understanding, alongside the existing systematic reviews of care leavers experiences, to better inform policy (Devaney et al., 2023). The review will explore the experience of staff supporting young people transitioning out of care across settings, as there is an identified need for a holistic approach with good inter-agency working across systems in the provision of care for young people. Hence this should be replicated in research.

The current body of literature requires further clarification, with a systematic review enabling synthesisation of research to gain a better understanding of the experience of staff working with young people transitioning out of care. A systematic review will build upon scoping reviews and enable the quality of the current evidence base to be established (Munn et al., 2018). The review will use qualitative studies to obtain a comprehensive understanding of individuals experiences and the aims stated below do not lend themselves to quantitative approaches. The review aims to systematically examine the experience of staff working with care leavers through the question: What are staff in social care, mental health, education, and criminal justice settings experience of working with young people transitioning or preparing to transition out of the care system? The review's aims are:

 To synthesise the current literature on the experience of staff working with young people leaving care across settings. Identify gaps and limitations in the existing literature to inform future research on staff working with young people leaving care.

Method

Search Strategy

The systematic review methodology was informed by the Cochrane guidelines (Higgins et al., 2023) and the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement (Page et al., 2021). The PRISMA statement contains twentyseven items developed to increase transparency and validity of systematic reviews methodology. A protocol was developed to inform the review process. The full protocol was registered on PROSPERO (CRD42024510846) as prospective registration helps to reduce potential bias as any changes from the initial planned protocol can be assessed and facilitate optimal transparency to improve replicability (Booth & Jones-Diette, 2018).

Initial scoping searches were carried out to help develop the search terms. These search terms were reviewed and defined through discussions with the research supervisor and a librarian at Royal Holloway, University of London. The search was conducted across three electronic databases including PsycINFO, Web of Science, and Scopus. Additional searches were conducted by hand searching reference lists of included studies and Google Scholar. Across the three databases search terms were applied to 'titles', 'abstracts' and 'keywords' and the 'advanced search' function was used. Boolean operators helped to conduct a more precise search; broadening each block of search terms (by using OR Boolean operator) yet narrowing the overall search (by using AND Boolean operator). Truncations enabled the search of variations of key words facilitating a broader search to maximise relevant articles. The following search terms were used (See Appendix J for the full search strategy):

- "service prov*" OR "care prov*" OR "mental health service*" OR "mental health prov*" OR professional* OR clinician* OR counsel* OR psycholog* OR therap* OR psychotherap* OR practitioner* OR "art therapist*" OR "drama therapist*" OR trainee* OR "assistant psychologist*" OR "social services" OR "social care" OR "social work*" OR "support work*" OR "outreach work*" OR "key worker*" OR "case worker*" OR "care worker*" OR education OR school* OR college OR "sixth form" OR teach* OR "teaching assistant*" OR mentor* OR "pastoral care" OR prison OR "criminal justice system" "OR "youth offend*" OR "young offend*" OR "prison officer*" OR "youth custody"
- experience* OR journeys OR thoughts OR feelings OR interactions OR engagement
 OR lived-experiences OR reflect* OR feedback OR views OR opinions OR reviews
- "care leav*" OR "leaving care" OR "foster care" OR "residential care" OR "kinship care" OR "out of home care"
- qualitative OR "thematic analysis" OR "grounded theory" OR "interpretive phenomenological analysis" OR ipa OR "phenomenological model" OR "discourse analysis" OR "focus group" OR "semi-structured interview" OR interview OR "narrative analysis" OR "narrative model" OR "content analysis" OR "ethnography" OR "ethnographic model" OR "case study" OR "case study model" AND "historical model"

Eligibility Criteria

An inclusion and exclusion criteria was developed to determine which studies should be included.

Types of Studies

Only qualitative studies were included with data collected via interviews, focus groups and qualitative questionnaires. Studies had to be empirical, to have collected and analysed qualitative data rather than being commentaries or reflective pieces. Studies had to be available in the English language, this could include translated copies of studies originally published in another language. Studies had to be published in a peer-reviewed journal as this increased their reliability (Kelly et al., 2014). There was no limit on the date of publication.

Participant Characteristics and Context

Samples must be staff who are supporting young people transitioning or preparing to transition out of care either directly or indirectly through policy development. The age of the young people will vary depending on what age they must legally transition out of care in the country they are living in. The young people may be from a range of care settings including but not limited to residential care, foster care, or kinship care.

Staff must be working in a social care, mental health, education, or criminal justice setting. There are no exclusions on the type of support staff may be providing across the different settings, this may include individual support, group support, interventions, advocacy or policy-making. Foster carers are excluded as they have a differing role compared to other professionals across the settings as they live with the young person. Studies with mixed samples (e.g., staff and care leavers experiences) can only be included if staff experiences have been analysed and reported separately.

Study Selection

The researcher carried out the searches across the three data bases (PsycINFO, Web of Science, and Scopus) on the 11th October 2023. The search results were exported to Rayyan, a data management software, and duplicates were identified and removed. The titles and

abstracts of the remaining studies were screened against the eligibility criteria. The full texts of the studies that met the criteria were retrieved and read to see if they met the inclusion criteria for the review. Reference lists of included studies were hand searched, alongside Google Scholar being searched, to identify any additional studies which potentially met the inclusion criteria. Full texts were retrieved and read for each of these studies and were assessed against the eligibility criteria.

A second reviewer screened 25% of the full-text studies against the eligibility criteria to determine the reliability of the included studies. Reliability was calculated using Cohen's Kappa, with a value of 1, displaying perfect agreement between the reviewers. Additionally, the researcher conducted a quality assessment of all studies included in the review. The second reviewer completed a quality assessment on 35% of the studies. Interrater reliability was Cohen's Kappa 0.58, indicating moderate interrater reliability. Any disagreements were discussed by referring back to the quality tool. If an agreement could still not be reached, it was discussed with a third independent reviewer.

Quality Assessment

The Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP, 2018) was used to conduct the methodological quality appraisal of the fourteen studies included in the review. The CASP checklist contains ten questions looking at studies appropriateness and consideration of key components including methodology, data collection and ethical standards. A guide to help navigate how to use the CASP checklist was used to help with the process (CASP, 2018; Appendix K). Whilst there is currently no gold standard for assessing qualitative studies (Derrer-Merk et al., 2023), the CASP checklist was applied as it is frequently used and seen as the critical appraisal tool of choice for qualitative synthesis in social sciences (Laher & Hassem, 2020). It has also been recommended by Cochrane and the World Health Organisation for use in qualitative evidence synthesis (Noyes et al., 2018).

In this review each question on the CASP checklist was rated out of one (0 = no, 0.5 = somewhat, 1 = yes). Studies were then categorised in line with Babb et al's (2022) methodology. Studies scoring 8 and above were categorised as being of high quality and were labelled A, scores between 4.5 and 7.5 were categorised as medium quality and were labelled B, and scores of 4 and below were categorised as low quality and labelled C. No studies were excluded based on quality ratings to avoid the exclusion of novel findings (Derrer-Merk., 2023).

Data Extraction

Each study included in the review had the following data extracted: authors and year of publication, setting and country, sample, age of young people transitioning or preparing to transition out of care, type of support provided by staff, data collection method, method of data analysis and findings.

Data Analysis

This review conducted a thematic synthesis following Thomas and Harden's (2008) guidelines. The researcher focused on the 'results' sections of the included studies and followed the three stages of analysis: (1) line-by-line coding, (2) developing descriptive themes, and (3) developing analytic themes (subthemes) to address the question: What are staff in social care, mental health, education, and criminal justice settings experience of working with young people transitioning or preparing to transition out of the care system? Throughout the process of data synthesis, the researcher had reflective discussions with the research supervisor to ensure validity and transparency of the data (Thomas & Harden, 2008). Study quality was considered when conducting the analysis and interpretation of the reliability of the findings. This analysis was chosen as it is widely used within health and

social care research, and was relevant to address the research questions as it has previously been used to synthesise individuals perspectives and experiences (Thomas & Harden, 2008).

Results

The Search

Electronic database searches identified 3,964 studies from Scopus (2,389), PsycINFO (855) and Web of Science (720). Of these 1,174 were duplicates which left 2,790 studies for consideration. Screening of titles and abstracts excluded 2,728 studies, leaving 62 studies for full-text screening. Of these, 11 studies met the eligibility criteria to be included in the review. This meant that 51 studies were excluded during full-text screening. The main reason for exclusion was the study having a mixed sample, often sharing staff and care leavers experiences with these not being analysed or reported separately, or the sample included the experience of foster carers, resulting in the exclusion of 30 studies.

Additional searches were conducted on Google Scholar and by looking through the reference lists of included studies for relevant citations, with 15 being found. After screening, all 15 studies were retrieved for full-text review. Of these studies 7 were excluded due to the study having a mixed sample often sharing staff and care leavers experiences with these not being analysed or reported separately, or the sample included the experience of foster carers, 3 had a mixed methods design and 2 did not explore the experience of staff. Thus, 3 studies met the criteria for inclusion. Overall, 14 studies met the eligibility criteria and were included in this review. Please see Figure 2 for the full PRISMA flowchart, highlighting the process through which studies were screened within the review and reasons for exclusion.

Figure 2

PRISMA Flow Diagram Showing the Study Selection Process.



Characteristics of Included Studies

Please see Table 1 for the included studies characteristics.

Year, Location and Study Settings

Fourteen studies published between 2007 and 2022 were included in the review. Most were conducted in Australia (n=9) all in the state of Victoria. The remaining studies were in the UK (n=3), Norway (n=1) and Romania (n=1). The setting in which the studies were carried out varied, including social care (n=6), criminal justice system (n=3), education (n=2), social care and mental health combined (n=2) and mental health (n=1).

Sample and Type of Support

A total of 351 participants were included across the 14 studies, with sample sizes ranging from 4 to 77 participants, with the mean sample being 25. Participants ranged from statutory professionals from a range of settings (n=189), stakeholders and non-government organisations (n=103) and service providers (n=40). One study had a sample of staff and care leavers but their views were explored and analysed separately.

The studies provided a range of support for those transitioning out of care including support for those involved with the criminal justice system (n=3), support for those with disabilities (n=3), mental health support (n=2), higher education support (n=2), early pregnancy and parenting support (n=2), support for those from marginalised backgrounds (n=1), and practical support in the care system (n=1). The studies provided this support for young people who were transitioning or preparing to transition out of the care system ranging from 15 to 25 years old.

Methodology

All studies used qualitative designs. Various methods were used by the studies for data collection including semi-structured interviews (n=5), focus groups (n=4), interviews or
focus groups (n=4), and both interviews and focus groups (n=1). Various methods of analysis were also used including thematic analysis (n=9), interpretative phenomenological analysis (n=1), theoretical construct of institutional logics inspired by thematic analysis (n=1), and some studies did not specifically define their qualitative analysis (n=3).

Table 1

Summary of Included Studies Characteristics.

	Reference	Setting	Sample	Age of young people	Type of support	Data collection	Analysis	Findings	CASP Rating
1	Anghel &	Romania	Statutory	Leaving	Practical	Semi-	Qualitative	Two themes:	6
	Beckett.		professionals	care, no	support in	structured	analysis, not	• Dependence,	(B)
	(2007)	Social	(n=11): Centre	specific	the care	individual	specifically	responsibility and	
		care	Managers	age	system	interviews	defined	rights	
			(n=3), Social	stated				Statutory	
			Workers (n=2),					professionals at	
			Educators					time of transition	
			(n=2),						
			DGASPC						
			representative,						
			Government						
			Representatives						
			(n=3)						
			NGO						
			professionals						
			(n=7):						

			Programme Co-ordinators (n=4), Social Workers (n=2), Counsellor						
2	Hiles et al. (2014)	UK Social care & mental health	Social Worker (n=2), Family Therapist, Community Care Worker	16-22 years old	Health and social care support	Focus groups	Thematic analysis	 Three themes: The train wreck at 18 Service design and development Working as a professional 	9.5 (A)
3	McNamara et al. (2019)	Victoria, Australia Education	Senior representatives from OOHC service providers (n=11)	Leaving care, no specific age stated	Indirect support through policy development. Support at university	Semi- structured individual interviews	Interpretative Phenomenological Approach	Five themes: • Tracking educational outcomes • Raising aspirations and expectations	5.5 (B)

			Staff representatives from universities (n=28)					 Academic preparedness Creating opportunities Indigenous experiences 	
4	Purtell et al. (2022)	Victoria, Australia	Service providers: NM	Teenage years -	Early pregnancy	Semi- structured	Thematic analysis	Four themesPathways to early	5.5 (B)
	di. (2022)	Australia	leaving care	early	and	individual		pregnancy	(D)
		Social	services (n=2),	20's	parenting	interviews		and parenting	
		care	NM and		support	and focus		for care leavers	
			metropolitan			groups		• Services available	
			intensive					to support care	
			parenting					leaver parents	
			support					• Eligibility criteria	
			services					and service	
			(n=10), NM					accessibility -	
			alcohol and					policy catch 22s	
			other drug					• Young people's	
			service staff					resentment of care	
			member, NM					services	

			foster care staff						
			member and						
			NM family						
			services (n=2)						
5	Bennwik	Norway	Social workers	18-22	Child social	Semi-	Thematic analysis	Organising principles	7
	et al.		in aftercare	years	services	structured		identified:	(B)
	(2022)	Social	child welfare	old	aftercare	individual		• A medical logic	
		care	services (n=14)		support for	interviews		• An activation	
					disabled			logic	
					young people			• An aftercare logic	
					leaving care				
6	Mendes et	Victoria,	Staff in varying	15-21	Support for	Focus	Thematic analysis	Findings presented under	7.5
	al. (2016)	Australia	roles from	years	indigenous	groups		the following headings:	(B)
			seven	old	care leavers			• Nature of systems	
		Social	mainstream					and processes	
		care	child and youth					• Aboriginal child	
			welfare					placement	
			services in					principle	
			OOHC and					• A strong value	
			leaving care					placed on the	
			sectors (n=32)					works of ACCOs	

								٠	Increasing	
									cultural awareness	
									and sensitivity	
								•	Limitations of	
									leaving care and	
									post care systems	
								•	Indigenous care	
									leavers'	
									transitional needs	
									and experiences	
								•	Recommendations	
									for improving	
									outcomes for	
									indigenous care	
									leavers	
7	Rahamim	Victoria,	Professionals	Leaving	Mental	Semi-	Theoretical	Three	themes:	7.5
	& Mendes	Australia	involved in the	care, no	health	structured	construct of	•	Factors	(B)
	(2016)		Victorian	specific	support	individual	institutional logics		influencing	
		Mental	Statewide	age		interviews	inspired by		mental health	
		health	Leaving Care	stated		or focus	thematic analysis		outcomes for care	
			Forum (n=19).			groups			leavers	

			Staff from child protection, youth justice, mental health, homelessness and leaving care services (n=11, not specifically stated for each service)					•	Transitioning from OHC current policy and practice challenges Practices for improved mental health outcomes	
8	Mendes & Snow (2013)	Victoria, Australia Social	Case workers, managers, team leaders (n-19, not stated for	15-21 years old	Social care support for disabled care leavers	Focus groups	Thematic analysis	Two th	hemes: Young people with disabilities are not	6.5 (B)
		care & mental health	each role)		1000015				experiencing planned transitions from care and are not receiving the	

-)			11		5		
	al. (2014)	Australia	from Victorian	year	care leavers	structured	•	Factors	(B)
			Office of the	olds	in youth	interviews		contributing to the	
		Criminal	Child Safety		justice	conducted		over-	
		justice	Commissioner		services	individually		representation of	
		system	and NGO's in			or in pairs,		young people	
			the OOHC and			or focus		leaving care in the	
			youth justice			groups		youth justice	
			systems (n=77)					system	
-									

								•	Child protection	
									support to care	
									leavers involved	
									with youth justice	
									system	
								•	Inter-agency	
									collaboration	
								٠	Leaving care	
									plans and youth	
									justice system	
									involvement	
								•	Youth justice	
									system responses	
									to child abuse and	
									trauma	
								•	Preventative and	
									diversionary	
									programs	
10	Rogers	UK	Student support	16-19	Support for	Semi-	Thematic analysis	Three	themes:	5.5
	(2015)		staff (n=17),	years	care leavers	structured		•	The lack of clarity	(B)
		Education		old					between agencies	

			social workers		in higher	individual		as to their	
			(n=8)		education	interviews		respective	
								responsibilities	
								for care leavers	
								• The financial	
								support provided	
								by FE colleges	
								• Limitations to the	
								support provided	
								by FE colleges	
11	Fitzpatrick	UK	Probation	18-25	Support for	Semi-	Thematic analysis	Three themes:	5.5
	&		officers,	years	care leavers	structured		Practitioners'	(B)
	Williams	Criminal	probation	old	subject to an	interviews		perspectives:	
	(2016)	justice	service		intensive			Barriers to	
		system	officers,		community			responding to the	
			mentors		order			specific needs of	
			employed by					care leavers	
			an employment					• Perceptions of	
			agency,					care leavers as a	
			strategic					'risky' client	
			managers					group	

			(overall n=11,					• Conflicts and	
			not stated for					contradictions in	
			each role)					responding to care	e
								leavers in the	
								criminal justice	
								system	
12	Broadley	Victoria,	Residential	Leaving	Support for	Focus	Qualitative	Four outcomes:	6
	(2015)	Australia	care workers	care, no	care leavers	groups	analysis, not	• Some Care	(B)
			(n=2),	specific	with a		specifically	Leavers with	
		Social	residential care	age	disability		defined	Disabilities are	
		care	team leaders	stated				placed in aged	
			(n=2), home-					care facilities	
			based care					• Some care leavers	5
			workers (n=3),					with disabilities	
			home-based					return home to	
			care team					live with families	
			leader, home-					of origin	
			based care					Some care leavers	5
			manager,					with disabilities	
			leaving care					are exited into	
			support					homelessness	

			workers (n=2),					• Some care leavers	
			client advocate,					with disabilities	
			youth services					are exited into	
			team leader,					supported	
			disability					residential	
			support team					services and	
			leader, youth					boarding houses	
			services						
			manager, youth						
			services senior						
			manager, case						
			managers						
			(n=4), manager						
13	Mendes &	Victoria,	Whitelion	15-21	Support for	Individual	Thematic analysis	Six themes (key issues):	5
	Baidawi	Australia	employees	years	care leavers	semi-		• Factors	(B)
	(2012)		(n=11): senior	old	in the youth	structured		contributing to	
		Criminal	manager,		justice	interviews		overrepresentation	
		justice	custodial		system	or focus		• Child protection	
			montor			groups		support to care	
		system	mentor,			0 1		support to cure	
		system	employment					leavers involved	

		workers (n=3),					• Leaving care	
		youth program					plans and youth	
		worker, leaving					justice	
		· U					-	
		care program					• Inter-agency	
		worker, CEO,					collaboration	
		young women					• Youth justice	
		program					responses to child	
		worker,					abuse and trauma	
		mentoring					• Preventive	
		program					programs	
		workers (n=2)						
14 Purtell et	Victoria,	Service	Teenage	Early	Semi-	Qualitative	Eight themes:	7
al. (2021)	Australia	provider at NM	years -	pregnancy	structured	analysis, not	• Care experiences	(B)
		leaving care	early	and	individual	specifically	and social	
	Social	services (n=2),	20's	parenting	interviews	defined	isolation	
	care	NM and		support	and focus		• Negative feelings	
		metropolitan			groups		towards care and	
		intensive			6 1		disengagement	
		parenting						
							• Greater supports	
		support					and	
		services					trauma-informed,	

(n=10), NM	relationship-based
Alcohol and	practice
other Drug	Surveillance bias
services staff	• The paradox of
member, NM	care and
foster care staff	protective
member and	interventions
NM family	• Turning lives
services (n=2)	around
	Traumatic
	pathways to early
	parenting
	• Indirect
	pregnancy
	prevention
	through
	educational
	attainment
	Alcohol and other Drug services staff member, NM foster care staff member and NM family

Key: DGASPC = Directorate for Social Assistance and Child Protection, NGO = Non-Government Organisation, OOHC = Out-of-home care, NM = Non metropolitan, FE = Further Education

Quality Appraisal

The quality assessment conducted using the CASP indicated that all studies were categorised as A or B, demonstrating a high level of rigour. Studies scored between 5 and 9.5, with an average CASP rating of 6.5. Studies met differing criteria in the quality assessment. Predominantly, question six of the CASP evaluated whether studies had considered the relationship between the researcher and participants. Only one study met the full criteria, while the rest of the studies did not meet any of the criteria for this question, indicating a lack of reflexivity in nearly all of the studies included in the review. A number of studies also had points deducted for not describing a rigorous data analysis and not detailing their recruitment strategy. Table 1 shows the overall CASP score and categorisation for each study, while the complete quality appraisal is displayed in Table 2.

Table 2

Quality Assessment Outcomes of Included Studies.

	Included Studies													
CASP Questions	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
1. Was there a clear statement of the aims of the research?	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0.5	1	1	1	1
2. Is the qualitative methodology appropriate?		1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
3. Was the research design appropriate to address the aims of the research?		1	0.5	0.5	1	1	1	1	1	0.5	0.5	1	0.5	0.5
4. Was the recruitment strategy appropriate to the aims of the research?		0.5	0	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	1	0.5	0.5	0	0.5	0.5	1
5. Was the data collected in a way that addressed the research issue?		1	0.5	0.5	0.5	1	0.5	0.5	1	0.5	0.5	1	0.5	0.5
6. Has the relationship between researcher and participants been adequately considered?		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
7. Have ethical issues been taken into consideration?		1	0.5	0.5	1	0.5	1	0.5	0.5	1	1	0.5	0.5	1
8. Was the data analysis sufficiently rigorous?		1	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0	0	0.5
9. Is there a clear statement of findings?		1	0.5	0.5	1	1	1	0.5	1	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
10. How valuable is the research?		1	1	0.5	0.5	1	1	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	1
Total score		9.5	5.5	5.5	7	7.5	7.5	6.5	7	5.5	5.5	6	5	7

Data Synthesis

The thematic synthesis identified three themes ('recognition of young people's needs', 'system complexities', and 'negative impact on staff') and eight subthemes to understand staff in social care, mental health, education and criminal justice settings experience of working with young people transitioning or preparing to transition out of the care system. Figure 3 presents the thematic map of the themes, subthemes, and the relationship between them.

Figure 3

A Thematic Map Outlining the Themes and Subthemes from the Thematic Analysis.



Recognition of Young People's Needs

Studies recognised the complex backgrounds and consequent needs of young people leaving care, including their *mental health needs* and *relational needs*.

Mental Health Needs

Most studies recognised that those transitioning out of care experienced mental health struggles primarily due to trauma. Staff had an awareness how this could then lead to a range of mental health struggles, "early experience of prolonged neglect, abuse or other forms of trauma (..) can contribute to problems with emotional regulation, problems with forming healthy and trusting relationships, it relates to anxiety and post-traumatic stress and also behavioural issues (..) their developmental journey has been extremely compromised and they are maturely not ready at eighteen years of age to be leaving care into independence" (Rahamim & Mendes, 2016, p.63).

The impact of trauma was recognised across settings. Staff identified unresolved trauma as a significant contributor to offending in care leavers. Higher education settings commented on the impact of trauma resulting in these young people missing school causing them to fall behind academically. When they reached higher education, staff noticed the impact this had on the young people's self-esteem, "*it takes a level of confidence and self-belief to put yourself in a position where you are going to learn particular things (...) they've got to get over that hurdle of, 'am I able to do that?'"* (McNamara et al., 2019, p.88).

All three studies exploring staff experiences supporting young people with disabilities, particularly those with intellectual disabilities and undiagnosed or borderline disabilities, identified often severe mental health struggles caused by prolonged trauma. Staff recognised that such struggles were exacerbated due to also having a disability and thus difficulties accessing appropriate mental health services. Some staff acknowledged how they

made adaptations to better meet the needs of these young people, "you make it more simplified, so if you're putting incentives in place, you would start slower and you would include things that other clients would automatically be doing" (Mendes & Snow, 2014, p.119).

There was one study exploring the experience of staff within the leaving care system in Romania which did not appear to recognise the mental health needs of young people. Staff did not have an awareness of these young people's difficult experiences which results in them entering the care system, *"[care leavers]being provided with everything they needed and therefore not experiencing the hardships that are typical of family life outside"* (Anghel & Beckett, 2007, p.12). They further felt as these young people had access to counselling they should be able to live independently with no struggles.

Relational Needs

Having acknowledged the often traumatic backgrounds of most young people leaving care, studies recognised their relational needs. Indeed, *"kids who have experienced trauma and who have been abused and going through an out-of-home care system, the most vital thing for them to assist them in their ability to function and manage through life is actually forming relationships"* (Rahamim & Mendes, 2016, p.65). Establishing a good relationship with these young people was also thought to be an important first step in higher education settings. Further in criminal justice settings these young people's relational needs were recognised by staff as a contributing factor to their offending, *"they're constantly looking for an attachment. It's never specific as to whether or not that's a negative or a positive attachment, more often than not it's negative, but they're getting their needs met"* (Mendes et al., 2014, p.16).

Staff further acknowledged that these young people often form good relationships with workers in the care system. They felt that leaving care creates anxiety as it threatens these relationships and recognised the function of some young people's offending behaviour was to test whether their relational needs will continue to be met, *"it's about knowing that the system has been there to pick them up for so long and it's just not going to be there anymore. There's not going to be someone who has to provide them with housing and food and all the basic necessities, and they are going to have to find that themselves. They are lashing out at that safety net just to make sure that it's still there*"(Mendes & Baidawi, 2012, p.16).

There was a recognition that as a staff member across settings, they could be the only person that the young person leaving care trusts and has a good relationship with. Staff across all studies took this as a chance to make a difference in the young person's life. This was apart from staff in one study in Romania who were "*wary of dependence and some attempted to avoid it by preventing any close relationship with the young people and imposing a formal atmosphere*" (Anghel & Beckett, 2007, p.12). In addition, only two studies acknowledged the cultural considerations for young people leaving care from differing backgrounds and how this may impact their mental health and relational needs (McNamara et al., 2019; Mendes et al., 2016).

System Complexities

Studies identified system complexities that often made it more difficult for staff to meet the recognised needs of the young people. These included *reactive services* rather than preventative services, *a lack of continuity* during the transition of leaving care, and *insufficient resources and training* available.

Reactive Services

Studies highlighted that services appeared to be more needs based and preventative up until the point where young people began transitioning out of care. At this point there was then an identified shift where services in social care, mental health, education, and criminal justice settings were seen to turn into more chaotic and reactive services, with staff wanting *"to be able to provide more proactive, rather than reactive support, and providing reactive support was commonly cited as a major concern"* (Rogers, 2015, p.109). Staff also identified reactive services when working with young people leaving care with disabilities, *"there are no waiting lists for accommodation within disability services - that it is crisis based, not needs based (...) they respond to the most dire emergency rather than planning"* (Mendes & Snow, 2014, p.119). Staff felt reactive services are a barrier to leaving care planning for young people, and that there was *"the inevitable risk that those not in crisis receive less support or simply go unnoticed falling through the net"* (Hiles et al., 2014, p.7).

Studies identified potential reasons for services being reactive including time restraints linked to the age a young person must leave care, being understaffed, and one study felt that the reactive services was transference from the young people themselves, "*what social services are doing they're modelling the client, we've become chaotic just like the client (..), we have done, cos we're all we're responding to the chaos and to the erm reactions to the crises*" (Hiles et al., 2014, p.7). Staff felt services should be more preventative for better outcomes for young people and themselves. They identified preventative services would mean sufficient time for preparing for young people to leave care and implementing regular preventative programs such as career support, apprenticeships, mental health support, and the development of life skills.

Lack of Continuity

Most studies acknowledged a lack of continuity of care across various settings during young people's transition out of care, describing it "like a train wreck, suddenly at eighteen, I definitely articulate that to young people as best I can, and say, you might be kicking against us right now, but, at eighteen, it will be most likely quite a different world" (Hiles et al., 2014, p.6). Although it was acknowledged that at times there was a lack of joint working within children's services in the lead up to leaving care, particularly between criminal justice and social care services, which resulted in "a lack of trust and role understanding, resulting in unacceptable levels of variability in service coordination and collaboration" (Mendes et al., 2014, p.18). Studies reported the prominent lack of continuity of care during the transition is between child and adult services with a noticeable tension between the two sectors, "I think that there is something in how child welfare services and adult services meet, and where I think labour and welfare services, they want to start all over again. They want to make their own assessments; they are making their own inquiries. Rather than listening to us, who know the young person already" (Bennwik et al., 2022, p.448).

Staff felt the tension between child and adult services is due to differences in how they perceive an eighteen year old, with child services often viewing eighteen year olds as 'big children', whilst adult services see them as independent adults. This was also reflected in services criteria with adult services having a less flexible approach towards engagement. Consequently, staff felt those leaving care with disabilities or who have not yet received a diagnosis were most at risk of falling through the net during this transition. However at times, staff acknowledged, contrary to their initial views, how young people were able to cope with reduced support in adult services, *"maybe you are given support two hours a week. And then*

we stagger and think that this will never work out. But sometimes it actually works out well" (Bennwik et al., 2022, p.449).

Particularly in higher education services, a key factor contributing to a lack of continuity of care was the scarce records for these young people. This was described as problematic as it meant at times, higher education facilities were not informed by social services that a young person is leaving care, *"that's probably one of the biggest problems because we don't know who they are (...) it's very frustrating (...) because there's a lot of work going on that we can offer our care leavers, but if we don't know who they are"* (Rogers, 2015, p.110). Staff recommended that a centralised record system across settings, alongside the formation of transitional services are needed to improve the continuity of care during the transition of leaving care.

Insufficient Resources and Training

Staff acknowledged that while continuity of care and joint up working between services is a key component of successful service delivery, this cannot overcome issues that are driven by limited resources. Insufficient resources and training were identified by all studies as a key systemic struggle, "underpinning many of the challenges was a pervasive sense of insufficient funding (..) it was a fight to meet even the most basic needs of young people, such as accommodation" (Hiles et al., 2014, p.7). The three studies with those transitioning out of care with disabilities all highlighted that accommodation was a basic need, yet particularly with these young people staff considered "the lack of accommodation options and support (..) to be a major cause of the difficulties" (Broadley, 2015, p.93). Consequently, staff reported these young people often being placed in inappropriate accommodation including aged-care facilities, boarding houses, or back in an unsafe family home. Further, an increase in resource for specialist services to better meet the needs of young people leaving care were identified. This included for parenting support, "we always sit over target and don't have the capacity to take all the people who would need the service and it's the same with some of the other parenting programs. So, yeah, not everyone who needs those services can actually access them" (Purtell et al., 2022, p.743). Also, for specialist cultural support, "I'm just really aware that they are pretty under the pump, and understaffed and overworked and have all of Victoria to cover (...) it's been my experience that that's been a real sort of impediment to doing the good work. And I think that yeah, in my experience, [Aboriginal Community Controlled Organisations] workers have been absolutely fantastic" (Mendes et al., 2016, p.7).

Staff also reported requiring more funding towards training to address outstanding learning needs. This highlighted a need for increased awareness about existing interventions specific for care leavers as *"it just feels a little bit hushed away the care leavers thing. It felt like a secret group. (..) whereas the cannabis group and things like that are far more transparent"* (Fitzpatrick & Williams, 2017, p.11). This study further reported how previous training from the Care Leavers Association helped improve knowledge about care leavers needs and the legislation surrounding them.

There was a training need outlined for increasing awareness of working with trauma, particularly in criminal justice settings, "*if someone's saying 'I was abused, this happened and some of that abuse took place while I was in care'* (...) *then it's difficult to sometimes know how to reply to that* (...) *it raised an issue for us about training, about how we speak to people now and communicate*" (Fitzpatrick & Williams, 2017, p.9). This reached the extent where youth justice officers did not feel comfortable asking young people if they were care leavers due to perceived attached stigma, a barrier to these young people accessing specialist support.

Additional training needs were identified for specialist topics where young people leaving care are overrepresented. This included staff working with young parents feeling uncomfortable discussing sex education topics with care leavers. It further included cultural differences as some staff were "not familiar [with] any specific Indigenous care leaver programs. My understanding is that it's all the same, so I would be interested to see with the . . . outcomes of this research, if there is something different that we don't know about" (Mendes et al., 2016, p.6). A recommendation was to employ a cultural support worker in each team to help with this education.

Negative Impact on Staff

Due to system complexities, studies highlighted the negative impact this had on staff. This led to staff experiencing high caseloads leading to *overwhelmed teams* which contributed to staff experiencing *a sense of helplessness*, contributing to *poor staff retention*.

Overwhelmed Teams

All studies reported how, either their own service or another service supporting young people leaving care they worked alongside, were overworked with staff members having high caseloads. This was particularly discussed in relation to criminal justice settings, and resulted in the additional work required to support young people leaving care being neglected, *"I've got other kids on my case load who aren't involved in any other services ... I'll prioritise these other kids on my case load and let Parkville [Melbourne Youth Justice custodial centre] and Youth Justice think about the kid that's in custody" (Mendes et al., 2014, p.17). This was also present in social care services, <i>"right now there are too many things to do for the social worker to be able to work on an individualised plan"* (Anghel & Beckett, 2007, p.16). Staff felt when teams were overwhelmed this resulted in them attempting to pass the responsibility of young people leaving care onto another team, creating further tension between services.

Further, staff saw the process of identify a care leaver within their service as extra work on top of an already high caseload which impacted upon staff morale, "[Offender Manager] has to go through in a day, it's quite vast so an extra load to identify, to encourage, to support [care leavers] and so on, on top of what you're already doing. For some it was a bit of a 'do we have to do this?' And I understand that, cos I felt like that myself to be honest, do I have to do this? To be honest, it was one of those, we had to do it and it got done. We did it kicking and screaming but it got done" (Fitzpatrick & Williams, 2016, p.9).

High caseloads particularly impacted specialist workers, who were often less represented within teams, as it was noticed that they "barely come to a case plan, really. You're lucky to see them at a case plan, but then they don't know the kid, because they've got a caseload of like 60 or something, you know? You can't get onto them. They don't respond to emails" (Mendes et al., 2016. p.7). Staff acknowledged this meant that young people may not be able to access specialist support set up for them due to teams being overwhelmed.

A Sense of Helplessness

There was a sense of helplessness amongst staff across settings and it was acknowledged that this came with the general nature of the work with those leaving care, *"[lack of parenting role model becoming evident in those leaving care who are young parents] it's very tragic. It's awful, to watch it play out"* (Purtell et al., 2021, p.360). However, staff also felt that their sense of helplessness was made worse by system complexities, demonstrating such despair staff *"described having to "beg" for money on behalf of their young people, to meet even their most basic needs"* (Hiles et al., 2015, p.7).

Such feelings were particularly present in staff working with those leaving care with disabilities as many ended up homeless. Demonstrating the extent to which staff feel at a loss as to how to help these young people leaving care, "*I can't imagine anyone being able to live*

with these two clients that are in my head, like they're really, really difficult and I don't know what the option would be for them... they're homeless now" (Mendes & Snow, 2014, p.122). Staff often went above and beyond to help these young people, "doing ten times over the allocated hours that we're funded for to work with young people" (Broadley, 2015, p.93), yet this often resulted in negative outcomes leaving staff feeling helpless.

Staff felt this sense of helplessness was driven by changes to the systems due to differing political narratives. Services felt that often systemic changes were made without staff being informed and they were expected to adapt accordingly. Staff struggled to work within services adhering to governmental policies due to the "*moral obligation they felt towards providing and fighting for the best support for them [the young people]*" (Hiles et al., 2015, p.8).

Poor Staff Retention

Due to teams being overwhelmed and staff experiencing a sense of helplessness, half of the studies acknowledged that services had poor staff retention which was seen as getting worse in recent years, "I've just been reading the policy around leaving care and I think it's fantastic in theory, but there are so many problems in application. To put into practice is hard to do. You're looking at the retention rate of new workers in child protection being six months, when I started it was two years, and it went down to six months when I left" (Mendes & Baidawi, 2012, p. 15). Other reasons for poor retention were due to the low qualified entry level jobs across services and low staff salaries resulting in a lack of incentives and morale, "I receive the minimum wage, I am a beginner it's true, but this is awful, what am I supposed to do with this money, almost nothing. If I had to live on my own, I wouldn't be able to survive" (Anghel & Beckett, 2007, p.15). Studies acknowledged the negative impact of high staff turnover on meeting the young people's relational needs and their continuity of care, "[about a care leaver] I might develop a really good relationship with you as my worker but suddenly you have gone and got a job somewhere. So I have to build trust again with this new person and work through that. None of which is going to be good for my mental health or wellbeing" (Rahamim & Mendes, 2016, p.62). Poor staff retention created a need to recruit temporary staff, who were reported to lack knowledge of service provision and local services, further negatively impacting the needs of the young people and team dynamics. Staff suggested that retention could be increased if the systemic complexities outlined were improved enabling staff to better meet the recognised needs of the young people leaving care.

Discussion

This review aimed to systematically explore the literature to answer the question: What are staff in social care, mental health, education, and criminal justice settings experience of working with young people transitioning or preparing to transition out of the care system? Thematic synthesis from fourteen studies identified three themes: 'recognition of young people's needs', 'system complexities', and 'negative impact on staff'. The findings showed a degree of homogeneity across the studies. This included all studies identifying a system complexity as having overworked teams and insufficient training and funding, with all but one study recognising the complex needs of young people leaving care.

The methodological appraisal revealed that quality was comparable across studies which were all found to be of medium quality, except one being of high quality (Hiles et al., 2014). A study's quality score had to range between 4.5 to 7.5 to be categorised as medium. Although during the analysis attention was paid to where within this range each study scored, as there were no studies deemed to be of low quality, all studies likely contributed useful information to the findings.

Main Findings

Staff had good 'recognition of young people's needs' including their complex *mental health needs* which staff acknowledged were primarily due to young people having experienced significant developmental trauma. In line with existing literature staff recognised the trauma young people may then also experience from being in care, and identified that the leaving care process can itself be re-traumatising (Häggman-Laitila et al., 2020; Stein, 2008). Staff further recognised that as a consequence of experiencing such trauma, young people had *relational needs*. Such young people's relational needs are acknowledged in the literature due to childhood trauma disrupting the formation of secure attachments leading to difficulties forming relationships in adulthood (Rodriguez & Dobler, 2021).

Although, in one study (Anghel & Beckett, 2007) conducted in Romania, staff failed to recognise young people's needs. This can be explained as at the time of the study Romania had newly joined the European Union and with this came a significant change in culture which recognised the rights of young people in care. The study reported that professionals were struggling to adapt to this change and received little support implementing it. This demonstrates the influence contextual factors can have on staff recognising the needs of young people leaving care. It also shows that during legislative changes linked to young people leaving care, staff require support to implement these changes effectively in practice.

Staff reported that 'system complexities' were a barrier to being able to effectively meet the recognised needs of young people. These included *reactive systems*, *lack of continuity*, and *insufficient resources and training*. The issue of *reactive systems* is recognised in the UK as early intervention spending has been reduced within children's services, with

services using the limited resources they do have to support children in crisis (Bennett et al., 2021). This is despite it being recognised that early intervention is key to reforming the care system and improving outcomes for young people leaving care (Bennett et al., 2021).

In addition, a *lack of continuity* was reported across all settings in the current review, although a particular problem for young people leaving care with disabilities. The transition from care is acknowledged to be more difficult for those with intellectual disabilities. This may be due to the population of individuals with intellectual disabilities changing rapidly, with young people with increasingly complex needs surviving into adulthood and requiring transition from child to adult health services (Brown et al., 2020). This may explain why staff felt accommodation and aftercare services appear less developed to meet these young people's needs. Yet it must be acknowledged that only three of the fourteen studies included in the review focused specifically on young people with disabilities, and there was not a clear consensus about the meaning of disabilities across studies. For example, studies had various interpretations of disabilities including young people with mental health struggles, physical disabilities, intellectual disabilities, or a mixture of these.

Further, barriers contributing to a *lack of continuity* have been identified in the literature including services having rigid boundaries, the different and sometimes arbitrary service boundaries, different amounts of funding, and a variation in protocols (Naert et al., 2017). Although this research identified such barriers to continuity of care within looked after children, similar barriers were identified within the current review resulting in young people leaving care falling through the cracks and experiencing a discontinuity of care during their transition. Moreover, the systemic underfunding leading to *insufficient resources and training* has been a longstanding issue and main contributor to the current care crisis (Dowling, 2022). The current review highlighted training needs for all staff working with young people leaving care, in specialist areas where care leavers are overrepresented. This included being young

parents, in contact with the criminal justice system, from differing cultural backgrounds and being mature students.

'System complexities' have been recognised as a factor underlying a traumatised system (McElvaney & Tatlow-Goldern, 2016) which can have a 'negative impact on staff'. Therefore, overall the themes from the systematic review indicate staff are working in traumatised systems across social care, mental health, education, and criminal justice settings. A traumatised system is where such staff responses to young people's complex needs mirror the traumatic response of the young people (McElvaney & Tatlow-Goldern, 2016). This can leave staff feeling traumatised themselves, and in their own responses to young people may then contribute to further traumatisation. This can be in the form of some staff developing coping defences which increase in rigidity and become more dysfunctional over time, resulting in potentially harmful service provision (Cummings et al., 2021). It can also lead to *poor staff retention* which was found in the current review, and can prevent the relational needs of young people being met by triggering feelings of abandonment causing re-traumatisation (Tyler, 2012).

To better understand the 'negative impact on staff' and their responses in a traumatised system it is helpful to consider the concept of vicarious trauma as this is recognised as a factor intertwined with 'system complexities' underlying a traumatised system (McElvaney & Tatlow-Goldern, 2016). Vicarious trauma is where trauma experienced by children in care can be reenacted, often unconsciously, in professional relationships (McCann & Pearlmann, 1990). Young people leaving care, to avoid feeling difficult emotions, can unconsciously project these onto professionals (transference) who can then experience countertransference reactions such as strong feelings of inadequacy or *a sense of helplessness*. This can be explained by the concept of staff and young people becoming parallel processes, where when two or more systems (individuals or organisations) have a

significant relationship they tend to develop similar affects, cognition, and behaviour (Bloom, 2010).

Further, a systematic review found three themes contributing to vicarious trauma in staff working with children in the care system were a lack of organisational support, a lack of appropriate training, and staff failure to acknowledge and share when experiencing such feelings (Ireland & Huxley, 2018). All three factors were evident in the current review indicating that vicarious trauma may be present. Interestingly, although participants in the review reported feeling helpless, powerless and sad alongside acknowledging they were working in *overwhelmed teams*, the concept of vicarious trauma was not acknowledged. If professionals do not recognise and process the unconscious dynamics in vicarious trauma it can impact their relationships with young people and other professionals, contributing to the traumatised systems indicated in the review (Conway, 2009).

Alternatively, staff may not be reporting vicarious trauma in the current review as they could be experiencing vicarious resilience. The opposite to vicarious trauma is vicarious resilience and it can be conceptualised as three related impacts: (1) the awe of witnessing client resiliency, (2) positive changes made to one's own life based on lessons learnt, and (3) motivation to continue working (Engstrom et al., 2008). The experience of vicarious resilience is challenged given the identified complex needs of young people leaving care and 'system complexities', two recognised barriers to vicarious resilience (Molnar et al., 2020). Participants included in the current review did not comment on any positive aspects or experiences of their role. Therefore it is unknown whether this is because participants did not experience any positive aspects or if the included studies did not ask specific questions relating to this.

Further the tension between child and adult services identified in the current review could be explained by staff not being aware of vicarious trauma. If professionals do not recognise and process this, it can also be re-enacted in inter-professional relationships (Conway, 2009). For example, staff in the current review identified forming emotional attachments with young people throughout their care journey viewing them as 'big children' upon turning eighteen years old. Whereas adult services have not experienced young people's trauma and view them as independent adults upon turning eighteen. As such staff in children's services may over-align with young people leaving care, engaging in conflict with adult services. Such conflict or tension may appear about the young person's needs but could actually be staff's re-enactment of unprocessed, transferred aspects of the young person's internal distress (Conway, 2009).

The 'negative impact on staff' can then make 'system complexities' worse maintaining the traumatised system. Increased funding for services to provide traumainformed practice, discussed in detail in the empirical study (p. 16), is suggested as the most effective way to reform services supporting young people transitioning out of care across the UK, USA and Australia (Asmussen et al., 2022; Middleton et al., 2019; Wall et al., 2016). This would help reverse 'systemic complexities' and reduce the 'negative impact on staff' by providing reflective spaces and supervision, caseload management, workplace safety and a supportive work culture which acknowledges the reality of trauma and vicarious trauma (Morrison, 2007). This would then enable services to better meet the recognised needs the young people.

Although there is a recognised need for trauma-informed care in children's services, a clearer and consistent definition is needed to facilitate its implementation (Aumussen et al., 2022). It is acknowledged that organisational change to transform a traumatised system into a trauma-informed system is challenging, a key facilitator of such a transformation is having

strong trauma-informed leadership creating a top-down approach to change within systems (Lowenthal, 2020). Organisational initiatives that led to a more successful implementation of trauma-informed practice include when they were driven by leaders who were fully committed to and engaged with trauma-informed practice and had resources available (Huo et al., 2023). Further when existing processes were enhanced rather than new additional processes being created, for example building in a debrief or reflective space to case discussions or adding in trauma screening items to existing screening tools (Huo et al., 2023). Finally, when staff training on understanding trauma was provided regularly across all staffing levels with a flexible delivery format, and when staff and service users were engaged or had 'buy-in' to the design and implementation of trauma-informed practice (Huo et al., 2023)

Evaluation of the Current Review

This review had various strengths. It is the first to systematically synthesise the literature on staff experiences of working with young people transitioning out of care across multiple settings. Its broad search strategy obtained the maximum number of studies, with manual searches further extending the review's reach. The review used broad key words to minimise the risk of missing key studies. However, this does not eliminate such risk altogether and it is important to acknowledge the potential value of using different or additional search terms related to staff and their varying job roles across these settings. Doing this may have resulted in different studies being identified compared to those found with the current search strategy.

Rather than restricting the search to one leaving care setting, the review kept the search broad using job roles across four settings. This captured the recommended holistic approach to supporting care leavers who tend to be involved in multiple systems during the transition from care. The key term 'experience' was also kept general rather than exploring

staff providing specific types of support as the language used to describe support differs across settings, and there is a lack of identified specific support provision for young people leaving care.

The reviews methodology followed the renowned Cochrane Guidance (Higgins et al., 2023) and the PRISMA statement (Page et al., 2021) to reduce bias and increase replicability. Including studies that used qualitative methods enabled the detailing of rich, in-depth perspectives of participants, to enhance the understanding of their experiences. The review only included peer-reviewed studies increasing the credibility of the included study's findings due to the extensive peer review process. However, this may have given rise to potential publication bias and the exclusion of relevant grey literature such as dissertations. A second reviewer screened 25% of the full-text studies and reviewed the quality appraisal of 35% of the included studies. Despite reducing the risk of researcher bias and error, as the second reviewer did not conduct this on all studies it cannot get rid of this risk altogether.

In addition, all studies included in the review were conducted in high-income countries, limiting the generalisability to differing cultural and political contexts. Nine out of the fourteen studies originated from the state of Victoria in Australia, further limiting the generalisability. Although it is important to note that Australia implement a similar legislative approach to care leavers as America and European countries, indicating comparisons could be made across these countries.

Participants from multiple settings included in the review are subject to differing ways of working, structures, and funding, with such inconsistencies making it challenging to compare and synthesise findings across studies. Yet as inter-agency working between these settings is recommended to support young people transitioning out of care, it was important to reflect this in the review. Further, there was a vast range of participant job roles within

each of the settings, from frontline staff to team leaders to service providers, creating considerable diversity within this synthesis. Whilst this sample offers a holistic view of staff experiences supporting young people transitioning out of care, which is integral to inform practice and policy in real-world settings, staff views may differ depending on their job role making comparison more difficult.

Implications for Research and Clinical Practice

The findings from this review provide important clinical implications. The review demonstrates how a traumatised system is created and maintained. This improves the understanding of this for staff, leaders and policymakers in children's services, facilitating awareness and thus change. In line with a key recommendation from the empirical study, the review highlights a need for trauma-informed practice within leaving care settings. All studies within the review identified insufficient resources and training as a main challenge. Therefore services would benefit from increased funding to employ trauma-informed leadership to facilitate top down change which is more cost effective (Lyons & Fernando, 2023). Investing in trauma-informed leadership would help create system structures embedding trauma-informed thinking, monitoring and management, improving outcomes for staff and young people leaving care. More generally, centralised recording systems between services and formal protocols for implementing these are needed to improve inter-agency working.

In addition, the review indicates a need for the formation of transitional services, or the consistent extension of the age support continues until within current services, across settings to improve continuity when young people are leaving care. This need has been acknowledged and there have been some mental health services across the UK, Ireland and Australia which have extended their provision for young people up to the age of twenty-five (McGorry et al., 2013). However, the review suggests that such provision is not currently
consistent across sectors and leaving care services, with the rigid boundaries and criteria of child and adult services appearing a barrier to a smooth transition with many young people falling through the net. Such ongoing transition support would also be more reflective of the guidance received by non-care experienced individuals approaching adulthood. Moreover, staff appeared particularly distressed at the lack of provision for young people leaving care with disabilities. The review highlights a need for specialist staff training, appropriate accommodation and aftercare services for these young people.

The review highlights a need for future research further exploring the experience of staff working with young people leaving care across settings and countries to improve generalisability. Across social care, mental health, education, and criminal justice settings fourteen studies met the reviews inclusion criteria, which whilst sufficient across settings, demonstrates a lack of research within each individual setting. The limited research in this field has tended to focus on the experiences of young people leaving care, which whilst is integral to inform best practice, has led to staff experiences being neglected. Both perspectives are required for optimal practice particularly trauma-informed care.

Although the concept of trauma-informed care is relatively new, such approaches have been regularly recommended. Consequently a systemic review could be conducted on children's services that may have already implemented trauma-informed care, particularly trauma-informed leadership. Research could also be carried out on services implementing trauma-informed practice and leadership to document its progress and outcomes. Further, if transitional services were set up or current service provision extended further into adulthood, it would be important for research to explore their implementation and outcomes for staff and young people. Research on the implementation of services or approaches would benefit from considering longitudinal studies to observe change over time.

Conclusions

This systematic review synthesised the findings of fourteen studies, developing themes to understand staff in social care, mental health, education, and criminal justice settings experience of working with young people transitioning or preparing to transition out of the care system. The review indicated that staff across settings are working in traumatised systems. System complexities prevented staff from being able to meet the complex needs of young people leaving care, whilst having a negative impact on staff themselves. However, the lack of heterogeneity across the studies regarding their setting, samples, analysis and methodological quality made it more difficult to draw meaningful comparisons between the studies. Consequently, future research further exploring staff experiences working with young people leaving care across settings and countries is needed to improve generalisability of findings. This will help inform and develop services supporting young people transitioning out of care which better meet the needs of staff and young people. Chapter 3:

Integration, Impact, and Dissemination

Integration

The Connection Between the Empirical Study and the Systematic Review

The empirical study (ES) and systematic review (SR) were closely connected in their shared focus on the experience of staff supporting young people leaving care. Whilst a similarity was that staff across both the ES and SR appeared to have a shared understanding of the complex needs of young people leaving care. Overall, the findings indicated that staff in the ES had very different experiences compared to those in the SR. The SR identified system complexities which had a negative impact on staff, whereas in the ES traumainformed practices such as staff consultations, reflective spaces and regular trainings minimised such complexities found in the SR. This provided a stark contrast as staff in the ES appeared to be working in a trauma-informed system whereas staff in the SR were working in traumatised systems.

The contrast of the findings between the ES and SR resulted in reflection on my own experience as a staff member working within services. Within my placement in an adult mental health service, I shared similar experiences to staff in the SR including feeling quite disempowered in a hierarchical structure, uncertain due to team splitting, and a high staff turnover made working relationships more challenging. In comparison within my placement in CAMHS I shared similar experiences to staff in the ES. This included feeling more contained through regular access to reflective spaces, more culturally competent through regular trainings and discussions, and I felt able to build strong relationships with colleagues and services due to shared values. This emphasised how our experiences as staff members are impacted by the systems we work in and how important it is to hear such experiences to understand and ensure optimal service provision.

Another consideration is that the ES narrowed its focus from the SR's exploration of staff experiences supporting young people leaving care, to unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people leaving care. This was due to a recent review of the National House Project (NHP), the charity where the participants were recruited from in the ES, concluding it is working in a trauma-informed way with evidence of trauma-informed leadership (Harvey et al., 2022). With a rising number of asylum-seeking young people in care, and joining the NHP, it was important to explore the experience of staff who worked within a trauma-informed and relational framework of practice, to support the needs of these young people. Staff experiences in the ES indicate that additional support is required to navigate and best support asylum-seeking young people's unique needs. This would suggest that staff in the SR working in an already traumatised system may particularly struggle to meet the needs of young people leaving care from minoritised groups.

It became apparent through conducting the ES and SR that there was a lack of research exploring the experience of staff within this field. Demonstrating this the SR, across four different sectors, identified thirteen studies which explored the experience of staff, and one study which had a mixed sample of staff and young people. The literature search for the ES showed that there was even less research which explored the experience of staff supporting minoritised young people such as unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people. The limited current research in the field tends to focus on the experience of young people leaving care. Both young people and staff perspectives are integral to provide optimal practice, particularly trauma-informed (McElvaney & Tatlow-Golden, 2016). Further, the research processes within the SR and ES meant that the two formed a uniformed whole to develop recommendations for future research and clinical practice.

Recruitment

Within the NHP, participants were recruited from two Local House Projects (LHPs) as these had unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people as part of their community. The use of purposive and snowball sampling methods for recruitment from a small sample may have caused apprehension in participants regarding their anonymity, impacting their responses in the interviews. On reflection, although I explained to participants that any quotes included within the study's write up would be anonymised, I could have spent more time explicitly explaining that this meant that identifiable characteristics such as their job role or LHP would not be disclosed. This may have better eased concerns about anonymity potentially leading to different information being obtained.

Methodological Considerations

The ES used reflexive TA (Braun & Clarke, 2006) to gain a rich, in-depth understanding and uncover underlying meanings of participants experiences through an inductive and latent approach, revealing new meanings through the researcher's views and interpretations. I took a critical realist position as this enabled the experience of staff to be discovered, whilst acknowledging that the sociocultural context of participants and the research shape reality.

Data saturation has been the gold standard approach to determining sample size, yet in more recent years, research has highlighted problems with this, including that it does not align with the values and assumptions of reflexive TA (Braun & Clarke, 2022). Rather, more recently attention has been paid to information power encouraging the researcher to consider data richness and how it meets the study's goals (Braun & Clarke, 2021). The ES's approach supported the researcher sitting with uncertainty, enabling the researcher to fully submerge with the data to obtain interpretive meanings of staff experiences.

Moreover, regarding the SR, the quality of included studies was assessed using the CASP qualitative checklist (CASP, 2018) due to its frequent use in social and healthcare settings (Laher & Hassem, 2020). Despite this, it is recognised that there is currently no gold standard for assessing qualitative studies and the interpretation of existing tools varies due to their subjectivity (Derrer-Merk et al., 2023). This could explain why there was moderate interrater reliability found between myself and the second reviewer for the quality assessment of included studies.

Further, the CASP qualitative checklist itself does not assign a scoring system to aid with the interpretation of study quality (CASP, 2018). However this leaves study quality interpretations difficult to conceptualise, particularly if comparing scores with a recommended second reviewer to increase rigour. Hence, reviews have adopted their own scoring systems and ranges to better interpret study quality scores, although such systems vary and there does not appear a centralised or recommended scoring system (Babb et al., 2022, Derrer-Merk et al., 2023, Fox et al., 2017). The SR used the scoring system and categorisation in line with Babb et al's (2022) methodology, a published SR increasing its rigour, as it is based on a previously used scoring system (Fox et al., 2017) but takes into account the updated CASP guidance (CASP, 2018) increasing its validity.

Expert by Experience Involvement

Meaningful expert by experience (EBE) involvement is integral to high quality and inclusive research (Romsland et al., 2019). Initially, I planned to identify an EBE who was a staff member at the NHP with experience of working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people. However, during the initial phases of the study's development, although the study explored staff experiences, I felt it was important for these young people's voices to be captured in the research. Consequently, I decided that having an EBE who represented these young people was a good way to capture this. The NHP discussed this with potential young

people who wanted to co-produce parts of the research project, and the EBE was an unaccompanied asylum-seeking young person currently part of the House Project community.

The EBE provided feedback on the topics of the questions planned to be included in the interview schedule. Feedback on the wording helped minimise psychology jargon and a key change was incorporating a more in-depth exploration of how staff work with cultural differences. Co-production could have been enhanced from obtaining feedback from more than one EBE, including unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people and an appropriate staff member if the sample of staff to recruit from had been larger.

Self-Reflection

Reflexive TA emphasises the importance of the researcher's subjectivity, viewing it as an essential and valuable component to research through active engagement with reflexivity throughout the research process (Braun & Clarke, 2022). There were differences visible between myself and participants including age, gender, ethnicity, background and job role. There were also some similarities including working in a public sector and supporting vulnerable individuals. Keeping a reflexive journal throughout the research process and having regular discussions in supervision ensured I remained aware of my biases and led to a more valid analysis.

It was integral from the start of the research process as the main researcher, as a white-British woman, to acknowledge my position of privilege and safety when thinking about the context of unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people. For example, once the interview was finished I could disengage from the experience of discussing trauma, discrimination and a lack of safety, whereas the young people who staff involved in the research were talking about could not. On reflection, participants in the interviews were also aware of their own background, particularly in relation to young people's journeys over to the

UK as all participants acknowledged this as something they could never fully understand. In addition, with my cultural background in mind, it was important that I positioned myself to the participants as a curious researcher, rather than an expert on this topic. It was about acknowledging that participants were trying their best to directly or indirectly support unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people. My role was taking a non-judgemental approach to better understand what such support currently looked like, and emphasising this at the start of each interview helped to implement my position.

Alongside this, I felt nervous about interviewing participants who had direct or indirect experience of working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people, whereas I had no experience of working with such young people. I wondered if participants may feel like I am not competent. On reflection, this could have stemmed from my position as a trainee clinical psychologist, lacking confidence in my research skills. Further, I initially found it difficult to balance adhering to the interview schedule with being open to exploring new areas participants initiated discussing. Over time conducting more interviews and reflecting on my interview style I became more confident in managing this balance. Adopting a flexible approach, responding to participants points but keeping the research aims in mind enabled me to link any discussion back to these aims.

Although having conducted regular therapy sessions and meetings remotely, I wondered if conducting the interviews online would impact the building of a rapport with participants compared to in-person interviews. This was particularly as the interviews were about potentially sensitive topics. Nevertheless, drawing on my clinical experience I was able to conduct the online interviews in a way which felt like it supported the building of rapport. This included prioritising participants safety through active listening, taking a curious nonjudgmental stance, and if it felt appropriate to do so gradually asking more challenging questions as the interview progressed.

In addition, I was very aware of the current rife political context surrounding the research project. It was important to acknowledge my own political stance and how I had a shared vision with the NHP, that unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people have unmet needs and require support. Despite being aware of this and actively trying to identify my blind spots, it meant that another researcher with differing perspectives to the NHP may have resulted in alternative findings. Contributing to this, during my training I have worked with several asylum-seeking adults. Whilst this was not directly with young people, I experienced a first-hand understanding of the struggles these young people may face as adults and the impact of making the journey over to the UK.

Further, upon arrangement of my first interview I found myself slightly apprehensive about situations that may arise during the interview process linked to the political context, particularly as this was an active topic in the news at the time. I discussed such feelings in supervision and we agreed that taking a curious stance to the interview process would be helpful and to aid implementing this I took time after each interview for reflection. I further sensed there was a notion that participants were concerned about saying the wrong thing, facilitated by societal pressures. For example when participants took longer pauses or said out loud 'what is the best way to phrase this'. This highlights the importance of care needed to be taken when conducting research on sensitive topic areas, yet also demonstrates how participants were actively aware and strived to speak in the most appropriate way.

Impact

Clinical Impact

The SR and ES both have clinical implications. Looking at the SR and ES together, staff appeared to recognise the complex needs of young people leaving care. However, when staff were working in services that provided little support due to system complexities this had a negative impact on staff and made it more difficult to meet the young people's complex needs. Whereas staff who felt supported reported feeling contained and more able to meet the needs of these young people. Therefore, the findings highlight what staff working in these services find helpful and identify areas for improvement. This can have an organisational impact as it can inform policy-makers on what is required for optimal service provision. This impact can then filter down to maintain or improve staff wellbeing and working conditions across services to help reduce the problematic issue identified of poor staff retention in services supporting young people transitioning out of care. In turn, if staff feel more contained and better supported to do their job, this can improve service provision for young people leaving care.

A key barrier to implementing recommendations by staff is a lack of resources and funding. However, the findings of the ES and SR emphasise that if staff are not looked after, this can maintain or contribute further to system complexities. Therefore it is hopeful that the findings highlight how important it is to ensure optimal staff wellbeing. As a starting point this could include ensuring staff have regular reflective spaces and supervision for their own emotional wellbeing, the provision of engaging training on working with the complex needs of the young people, and increased funding towards prevention strategies rather than towards crisis management. It may also be helpful for services to employ a psychologist to aid with the implementation of such practices and spaces.

The ES further highlighted staff experiences of working with unaccompanied asylumseeking young people leaving care. Such staff experiences identified the unique needs of such young people and that when supporting them specific considerations are required in order to meet these needs. This included specialist training in understanding and working with their unique trauma, and training and awareness of cultural differences including responses to trauma and mental health perceptions. This can help inform government policy-makers of the

additional considerations and support that staff need to best support these young people. The provision of such support will ensure optimal outcomes for staff and young people. At a broader level, these findings could impact any professionals or organisations working internationally with vulnerable people from differing cultural backgrounds.

Although a main barrier to such impact is the current political narrative and complex constantly changing legislation restraints surrounding these young people and staff working with them. To help overcome this barrier and increase the impact of the findings, staff in the ES suggested the importance of those supporting these young people to regularly share experiences of enablers and barriers of provision, internally and between services. To evidence the benefits or barriers to the findings it would be integral for any changes to services to be monitored and evaluated throughout the process of implementation. This could be through developing standardised measures or through obtaining feedback from service users, staff, organisations, and policy-makers.

Academic Impact

As the ES and SR highlighted there is a dearth of research exploring the experience of staff in this field, research is encouraged to further explore staff experiences across settings working with young people transitioning out of care. This particularly includes staff experiences of supporting minoritised groups during this process, as the ES has highlighted that staff may need additional support when working with such young people. This would ideally be with staff from a range of organisations and settings, creating more representative samples outside of the NHP. This would help to gain a wider consensus of the positives and challenges of working in these services to better inform policy. Alongside this it is important for research to continue exploring young people's experiences so comparisons can be made and as both staff and young people's perspectives are needed for optimal service provision.

Both the ES and SR concluded that trauma-informed practice is required when supporting young people leaving care for optimal outcomes. Research is encouraged to explore staff experiences of implementing such practice across settings. Future studies should consider longitudinal studies, follow-up periods, differing contexts, differing staff roles (e.g., frontline staff, managers, leaders, policy-makers), and using qualitative designs alongside some analytic approaches. Further, research should focus on the development of universal tools to monitor and evaluate the development and progress of implementing such practice.

Dissemination

I gave an online presentation of the research to fellow trainee clinical psychologists and course staff at Royal Holloway University in May 2024. Fellow trainee clinical psychologists gained insights into how the research was conducted which may help inform their own theses. Additionally, trainees must complete a child placement and likely work with individuals from a variety of cultural backgrounds, hence the research information could help inform their current practice.

In May 2024 I gave a further online presentation of the research to participants at the NHP who took part in the ES, including senior leaders. This presentation, including a lay summary to ensure understanding, was also distributed electronically to all participants, ensuring they could still access this information if they could not attend the scheduled presentation. Following the presentation there was a reflective discussion whereby staff provided feedback that they thought the presentation was thought-provoking. Staff said they were appreciative of the clinical implications of the research which they started to think about how they could implement. Participants were further encouraged to share the findings with other House Projects, particularly those who are newly hoping to have unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people as part of their community. To help with this, in the future, I

have been invited and plan to present the research at the community of practice, a forum at the NHP where all the LHPs come together to discuss practice. The research has the potential to inform future training delivery too across the NHP.

The SR and ES intend to be published in peer-reviewed academic journals to facilitate further dissemination. The SR and ES will aim to be published as two separate papers to maximise their impact. International and national journals are being considered most relevant to the research topic. Journals will be approached based on their impact factor and reach to ensure maximum impact on targeted audiences. Current potential journals being considered are Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice and Policy, Children and Youth Services Review, and Child and Adolescent Mental Health Journal.

References

References marked with an asterisk indicate studies included in the systematic review.

- *Anghel, R., & Beckett, C. (2007). Skateboarding behind the EU lorry the experience of Romanian professionals struggling to cope with transition while assisting care leavers. *European Journal of Social Work*, 10(1), 3-19. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691450601143567
- Armitage, A. J., Cohen, J., Heys, M., Hardelid, P., Ward, A., & Eisen, S. (2022). Description and evaluation of a pathway for unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 107(5), 456-460. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2021-322319
- Asmussen, K., Masterman, T., McBride, T., & Molloy, D. (2022). *Trauma-informed care: Understanding the use of trauma-informed approaches within children's social care.* Early Intervention Foundation. https://www.eif.org.uk/report/trauma-informed-careunderstanding-the-use-of-trauma-informed-approaches-within-childrens-social-care
- Avery, J., Morris, H., Jones, A., Skouteris, H., & Deppeler, J. (2022). Australian educators perceptions and attitudes towards a trauma-responsive school-wide approach. *Journal* of Child & Adolescent Trauma, 15(3), 771-785. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40653-021-00394-6
- Babb, C., Jones, C. R., & Fox, J. R. (2022). Investigating service users' perspectives of eating disorder services: A meta-synthesis. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy, 29*(4), 1276-1296. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2723
- Ballard-Kang, J. L. (2021). Using culturally appropriate, trauma-informed support to promote bicultural self-efficacy among resettled refugees: A conceptual model. In M. Y. Lee (Eds.), *Immigrant and Refugee Youth and Families* (pp. 25-44). Routledge.

- Bamford, J., Fletcher, M., & Leavey, G. (2021). Mental health outcomes of unaccompanied refugee minors: A rapid review of recent research. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 23, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-021-01262-8
- Basic, G., & Matsuda, Y. (2020). Inclusion and obstacles in the Swedish social pedagogical context: An analysis of narratives on working with unaccompanied refugee minors with wartime experiences in institutional care. *Hrvatska Revija za Rehabilitacijska Istrazivanja*, 56(1), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.31299/hrri.56.1.1
- Bendall, S., Eastwood, O., Cox, G., Farrelly-Rosch, A., Nicoll, H., Peters, W., ... & Scanlan,
 F. (2021). A systematic review and synthesis of trauma-informed care within outpatient and counselling health settings for young people. *Child Maltreatment*, 26(3), 313-324. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559520927468
- Bennett, D. L., Webb, C. J., Mason, K. E., Schlüter, D. K., Fahy, K., Alexiou, A., ... & Taylor-Robinson, D. (2021). Funding for preventative children's services and rates of children becoming looked after: A natural experiment using longitudinal area-level data in England. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 131, 106289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2021.106289
- *Bennwik, I. H. B., Oterholm, I., & Kelly, B. (2023). 'Disability is not a word we use': Social workers' professional judgements about support for disabled young people leaving care. *Child & Family Social Work*, *28*(2), 443-453. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12975
- Blair, C., Leonard, R., Linden, M., Teggart, T., & Mooney, S. (2024). Allied health professional support for children and young adults living in and leaving care: A systematic scoping review. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 50(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.13140

 Bloom, S. L. (2010). Trauma-organised systems and parallel process. In N. Tehrani (Eds.), *Managing trauma in the workplace* (pp. 159-173). Routledge. https://sandrabloom.com/wp-content/uploads/2011-BLOOM-TRAUMA-ORGANIZED-SYSTEMS-PARALLEL-PROCESS.pdf

- Booth, A., & Jones-Diette, J. (2018). Registering the Review. In G. Biondi-Zoccai (Ed.), *Diagnostic Meta-Analysis: A useful tool for clinical decision-making* (pp. 59-75). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-78966-8_6
- Borbon, E. D., Blackmon, T. E., & Fairbank, J. A. (2023). Trauma-informed care for unaccompanied children: Lessons learned for practice and policy development. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0001565
- Bowlby, J. (1973). *Attachment and loss: Volume II: Separation, Anxiety and Anger.* London: The Hogarth Press and The Institute of Psycho-Analysis.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 13*(2), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). Can I use TA? Should I use TA? Should I not use TA?
 Comparing reflexive thematic analysis and other pattern-based qualitative analytic approaches. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research*, 21(1), 37-47.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12360

Braun, V., & Clakre, V. (2022). Thematic analysis. A practical guide. Sage.

- Brewster, L., Jones, E., Priestley, M., Wilbraham, S. J., Spanner, L., & Hughes, G. (2022).
 'Look after the staff and they would look after the students' cultures of wellbeing and mental health in the university setting. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 46(4), 548-560. https://doi.org/10.1080/0309877X.2021.1986473
- *Broadley, K. (2015). Is there a role for adult protection services in the lives of young people with disabilities transitioning from out-of-home care? *Australian Social Work*, 68(1), 84-98. https://doi.org/10.1080/0312407X.2014.932400
- Brown, M., Higgins, A., & MacArthur, J. (2020). Transition from child to adult health services: a qualitative study of the views and experiences of families of young adults with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 29(1-2), 195-207. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.15077
- Burnham, J. (2012). Developments in Social GRRRAAACCEEESSS: Visible-invisible and voiced-unvoiced. In I. B. Krause (Eds.), *Culture and reflexivity in systemic psychotherapy: Mutual perspectives* (pp.139-160). Karnac Books.
- Carlson, B. E., Cacciatore, J., & Klimek, B. (2012). A risk and resilience perspective on unaccompanied refugee minors. *Social Work*, 57(3), 259-269. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/sws003
- Cemlyn, S. J., & Nye, M. (2012). Asylum seeker young people: Social work value conflicts in negotiating age assessment in the UK. *International Social Work*, 55(5), 675-688. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872812447638
- Chase, E. (2010). Agency and silence: Young people seeking asylum alone in the UK. *British* Journal of Social Work, 40(7), 2050-2068. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcp103

- Chase, E. (2013). Security and subjective wellbeing: The experiences of unaccompanied young people seeking asylum in the UK. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, *35*(6), 858-872. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9566.2012.01541.x
- Chase, E., Knight, A., & Statham, J. (2008). *Promoting the emotional wellbeing and mental health of unaccompanied young people seeking asylum in the UK*. Thomas Coram Research Unit.

Children Act 1989, c. 41. https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41

Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000, c. 35. https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/35

- Colton, M., & Roberts, S. (2007). Factors that contribute to high turnover among residential child care staff. *Child & Family Social Work*, 12(2), 133-142. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2206.2006.00451.x
- Conway, P. (2009). Falling between minds: The effects of unbearable experiences on multiagency communication in the care system. *Adoption & Fostering*, *33*(1), 18-29. https://doi.org/10.1177/030857590903300103
- Craig, T., Jajua, P. M., & Warfa, N. (2006) 'Mental healthcare needs of refugees', *Psychiatry*, 5(11), 405-408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mppsy.2009.06.007
- Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (2018). CASP (Qualitative) Checklist. https://caspuk.net/checklists/casp-qualitative-studies-checklist-fillable.pdf
- Crous, G., Montserrat, C., & Balaban, A. (2020). Young people leaving care with intellectual disabilities or mental health problems: Strengths and weaknesses in their transitions. *Social Work & Society*, 18(3), 1-20.

https://documentation.lastradainternational.org/lsidocs/The_Emotional_Wellbeing_of _Unaccompanied_Young_People_Seeking_Asylum_in_the_UK.pdf

- Cummings, C., Singer, J., Hisaka, R., & Benuto, L. T. (2021). Compassion satisfaction to combat work-related burnout, vicarious trauma, and secondary traumatic stress. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *36*(9-10), NP5304-NP5319. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260518799502
- Dallos, R., & Draper, R. (2015). *An introduction to family therapy: Systemic theory and practice*. McGraw-Hill Education.
- Daly, F. (2012). What do young people need when they leave care? Views of care leavers and aftercare workers in north Dublin. *Child Care in Practice*, 18(4), 309– 324. https://doi.org/10.1080/13575279.2012.713852
- Demazure, G., Baeyens, C., & Pinsault, N. (2022). Unaccompanied refugee minors' perception of mental health services and professionals: A systematic review of qualitative studies. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 27(3), 268-280. https://doi.org/10.1111/camh.12486
- Department of Education. (2019). Universities asked to do more to support care leavers. https://www.gov.uk/government/news/universities-asked-to-do-more-to-support-careleavers
- Department of Education. (2021). 'National Care leavers who were unaccompanied asylumseeking children' from 'Children looked after in England including adoptions'. https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/data-tables/permalink/e5631586da1c-48b3-9e24-5873bc8b679e
- Department of Education. (2023). *Children looked after in England including adoptions*. https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/children-looked-afterin-england-including-adoptions

Department of Education. (2024). *Outcomes for children in need, including children looked after by local authorities in England*. https://explore-educationstatistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/outcomes-for-children-in-need-includingchildren-looked-after-by-local-authorities-in-england

Derrer-Merk, E., Reyes-Rodriguez, M. F., Soulsby, L. K., Roper, L., & Bennett, K. M. (2023). Older adults' experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic: A qualitative systematic literature review. *BMC Geriatrics*, 23(1), 580. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-023-04282-6

- Devaney, J., Power, L., Jacobs, P., Davidson, G., Hiller, R., Martin, J., ... & Thapar, A.
 (2023). An agenda for future research regarding the mental health of young people with care experience. *Child & Family Social Work*, 28(4), 960-970.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.13015
- Devenney, K. (2020). Social work with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people:
 Reframing social care professionals as 'co-navigators'. *The British Journal of Social Work*, 50(3), 926-943. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcz071

Dowling, E. (2022). The Care Crisis: What Caused it and how can we end it? Verso Books.

- Dunkerley, D., Scourfield, J., Maegusuku-Hewett, T., & Smalley, N. (2005). The experiences of frontline staff working with children seeking asylum. *Social Policy & Administration*, 39(6), 640-652. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9515.2005.00461.x
- Ehntholt, K. A., & Yule, W. (2006). Practitioner review: Assessment and treatment of refugee children and adolescents who have experienced war related trauma. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(12), 1197–1210. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01638.x

- Elliott, R., Fischer, C. T., & Rennie, D. L. (1999). Evolving guidelines for publication of qualitative research studies in psychology and related fields. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 38, 215-229. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466599162782
- Engstrom, D., Hernández, P., & Gangsei, D. (2008). Vicarious resilience: A qualitative investigation into its description. *Traumatology*, 14(3), 13-21. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534765608319323
- Fernández, V., Gausereide-Corral, M., Valiente, C., & Sánchez-Iglesias, I. (2023). Effectiveness of trauma-informed care interventions at the organizational level: A systematic review. *Psychological Services*, 20(4), 849-862. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000737</u>
- *Fitzpatrick, C., & Williams, P. (2017). The neglected needs of care leavers in the criminal justice system: Practitioners' perspectives and the persistence of problem (corporate) parenting. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, *17*(2), 175-191.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1748895816659324
- Foronda, C. (2020). A theory of cultural humility. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, *31*(1), 7-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659619875184
- Fox, J. R., Dean, M., & Whittlesea, A. (2017). The experience of caring for or living with an individual with an eating disorder: A meta-synthesis of qualitative studies. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 24(1), 103-125. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.1984
- Galvin, E., O'Donnell, R., Avery, J., Morris, H., Mousa, A., Halfpenny, N., ... & Skouteris, H.
 (2022). Residential out-of-home care staff perceptions of implementing a traumainformed approach: The sanctuary model. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma*, 15(3), 653-667. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40653-021-00427-0

Gill, A., Grace, R., Waniganayake, M., & Hadley, F. (2020). Practitioner and foster carer perceptions of the support needs of young parents in and exiting out-of-home care: A systematic review. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 108, 104512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104512

Groark, C., Sclare, I., & Raval, H. (2011). Understanding the experiences and emotional needs of unaccompanied asylum-seeking adolescents in the UK. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *16*(3), 421-442.
https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104510370405

- Gullo, F., García-Alba, L., Bravo, A., & Del Valle, J. F. (2021). Crossing countries and crossing ages: The difficult transition to adulthood of unaccompanied migrant care leavers. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(13), 6935. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18136935
- Gunawardena, N., & Stich, C. (2021). Interventions for young people aging out of the child welfare system: A systematic literature review. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 127, 106076. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2021.106076
- Häggman-Laitila, A., Salokekkilä, P., & Karki, S. (2018). Transition to adult life of young people leaving foster care: A qualitative systematic review. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 95, 134-143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.08.017
- Häggman-Laitila, A., Salokekkilä, P., & Karki, S. (2020). Integrative review of the evaluation of additional support programs for care leavers making the transition to adulthood. *Journal of Paediatric Nursing*, *54*, 63-77.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2020.05.009

- Hanson, R. F., & Lang, J. (2016). A critical look at trauma-informed care among agencies and systems serving maltreated youth and their families. *Child maltreatment*, 21(2), 95-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559516635274</u>
- Harvey, J., Lanskey, C., & Marshall, H. (2022). An evaluation of the National House Project's Psychological Framework of Practice. https://thehouseproject.org/news/press-release:-cambridge-evaluation-report
- Hassett, A., & Strohmaier, S. (2020). Trauma recovery core capabilities for the children's workforce in the United Kingdom: A Q-methodology study. *Journal of Family Trauma, Child Custody & Child Development*, 17(4), 317-343. https://doi.org/10.1080/26904586.2020.1826026
- Hickle, K. (2020). Introducing a trauma-informed capability approach in youth services. *Children & Society*, 34(6), 537-551. https://doi.org/10.1111/chso.12388
- Higgins, J. P. T., Thomas, J., Chandler, J., Cumpston, M., Li, T., Page, M. J., Welch, V.A. (editors). *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* version 6.4 (updated August 2023). Cochrane, 2023. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.
- *Hiles, D., Moss, D., Thorne, L., Wright, J., & Dallos, R. (2014). "So what am I?"—Multiple perspectives on young people's experience of leaving care. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 41, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2014.03.007
- Hiles, D., Moss, D., Wright, J., & Dallos, R. (2013). Young people's experience of social support during the process of leaving care: A review of the literature. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 35(12), 2059-2071.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.10.008

Hoare, R. (2022). Using composite case material to develop trauma-informed psychoeducation for social care workers looking after unaccompanied minors in residential care in Ireland. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 30(6), e5863e5874. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.14017

Hopkins, P., & Hill, M. (2010). The needs and strengths of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and young people in Scotland. *Child & Family Social Work*, 15(4), 399-408. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2206.2010.00687.x

Hunter, K., Francis, B., & Fitzpatrick, C. (2023). Care experience, ethnicity and youth justice involvement: Key trends and policy implications. ADR (Administrative Data Research).
https://www.adruk.org/fileadmin/uploads/adruk/Documents/Policy_Briefings/Policy-briefing-Katie-Hunter.pdf

- Huo, Y., Couzner, L., Windsor, T., Laver, K., Dissanayaka, N. N., & Cations, M. (2023).
 Barriers and enablers for the implementation of trauma-informed care in healthcare settings: a systematic review. *Implementation Science Communications*, 49(4), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43058-023-00428-0
- Hynes, P. (2009). 'Contemporary Compulsory Dispersal and the Absence of Space for the Restoration of Trust'. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 22, 97–121. https://doi.org/10.1093/jrs/fen049
- Ireland, C. A., & Huxley, S. (2018). Psychological trauma in professionals working with traumatised children. *Journal of Forensic Practice*, 20(3), 141-151. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFP-10-2017-0045
- Jobe, A., & Gorin, S. (2013). 'If kids don't feel safe they don't do anything': Young people's views on seeking and receiving help from Children's Social Care Services in

England. *Child & Family Social Work*, *18*(4), 429-438. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2206.2012.00862.x

- Johnstone, L. & Boyle, M. with Cromby, J., Dillon, J., Harper, D., Kinderman, P., Longden,
 E., Pilgrim, D. & Read, J. (2018). *The Power Threat Meaning Framework: Towards the identification of patterns in emotional distress, unusual experiences and troubled or troubling behaviour, as an alternative to functional psychiatric diagnosis.*Leicester: British Psychological Society. https://www.madinamerica.com/wpcontent/uploads/2020/12/The-Power-Threat-Meaning-Framework.pdf
- Juang, L. P., Simpson, J. A., Lee, R. M., Rothman, A. J., Titzmann, P. F., Schachner, M. K., ... & Betsch, C. (2018). Using attachment and relational perspectives to understand adaptation and resilience among immigrant and refugee youth. *American Psychologist*, 73(6), 797-811. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000286
- Kaasinen, M., Salokekkilä, P., & Häggman-Laitila, A. (2022). Experiences of Finnish care leavers of their involvement in the aftercare services for child welfare clients. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 30(1), e95-e104. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.13416
- Kelly, J., Sadeghieh, T., & Adeli, K. (2014). Peer review in scientific publications: Benefits, critiques & a survival guide. *The Electronic Journal of the International Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 25(3), 227-243.

King, D., & Said, G. (2019). Working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people: Cultural considerations and acceptability of a cognitive behavioural group approach. *The Cognitive Behaviour Therapist*, *12*, 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1754470X18000260

- Kohli, R. K. (2006). The sound of silence: Listening to what unaccompanied asylum-seeking children say and do not say. *British Journal of Social Work*, 36(5), 707-721. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bch305
- Kohli, R. K. (2011). Working to ensure safety, belonging and success for unaccompanied Asylum-seeking children. *Child Abuse Review*, 20(5), 311-323. https://doi.org/10.1002/car.1182
- Krystallidou, D., Temizöz, Ö., Wang, F., de Looper, M., Di Maria, E., Gattiglia, N., ... & Braun, S. (2024). Communication in refugee and migrant mental healthcare: A systematic rapid review on the needs, barriers and strategies of seekers and providers of mental health services. *Health Policy*, *139*, 104949.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2023.104949
- Kvestad, I., Bøe, T., Sayyad, N., Skogen, J. C., Randal, S., & Lehmann, S. (2023). Potential traumatic events and symptoms of post-traumatic stress in unaccompanied refugee minors - a comparison with youth in foster care. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 32(3), 439-449. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.14017
- Laher, S., & Hassem, T. (2020). Doing systematic reviews in psychology. *South African Journal of Psychology*, *50*(4), 450-468. https://doi.org/10.1177/0081246320956417
- Larkin, R. (2015). Understanding the 'Lived Experience' of Unaccompanied Young Women: Challenges and Opportunities for Social Work, *Practice*, 27(5), 297-313. https://doi.org/10.1080/09503153.2015.1070817
- Lekas, H. M., Pahl, K., & Fuller Lewis, C. (2020). Rethinking cultural competence: Shifting to cultural humility. *Health Services Insights*, 13, 1178632920970580. https://doi.org/10.1177/1178632920970580

- Low, J. (2019). A Pragmatic Definition of the Concept of Theoretical Saturation. *Sociological Focus*, 52(2), 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380237.2018.1544514
- Lowenthal, A. (2020). Trauma-informed care implementation in the child-and youth-serving sectors: A scoping review. *International Journal of Child and Adolescent Resilience*, 7(1), 178-194. https://doi.org/10.7202/1072597ar
- Lusmen, I., & Kreppner, J. (2024). Trauma-Informing the Asylum Process. Guidelines and Recommendations Co-developed with Young People Seeking Asylum. http://eprints.soton.ac.uk/id/eprint/487622
- Lyons, J. S., & Fernando, A. D. (2023). Creating the necessary infrastructure for a traumainformed system of care for children and youth. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1129197
- MacAlister, J. (2022). *The independent review of children's social care*. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/640a17f28fa8f5560820da4b/Independe nt_review_of_children_s_social_care_-_Final_report.pdf
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1753-1760. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315617444
- Mann-Feder, V. R., & Goyette, M. (2019). *Leaving care and the transition to adulthood: International contributions to theory, research, and practice*. Oxford University Press.
- Martin, A., Robson, A., Horsley, F., & Kennedy, P. J. (2022). A pilot evaluation of Enhanced Case Management within a Youth Offending Service: Practitioners' experiences of trauma-informed formulation. *Clinical Psychology Forum*, 350, 66-71.

- McCann, I. L., & Pearlman, L. A. (1990). Vicarious traumatization: A framework for understanding the psychological effects of working with victims. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 3, 131-149. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00975140
- McElvaney, R., & Tatlow-Golden, M. (2016). A traumatised and traumatising system:
 Professionals' experiences in meeting the mental health needs of young people in the care and youth justice systems in Ireland. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 65, 62-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.03.017
- McGorry, P., Bates, T., & Birchwood, M. (2013). Designing youth mental health services for the 21st century: Examples from Australia, Ireland and the UK. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 202(s54), s30-s35. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.112.119214
- *McNamara, P., Harvey, A., & Andrewartha, L. (2019). Passports out of poverty: Raising access to higher education for care leavers in Australia. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 97, 85-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.07.015
- *Mendes, P., & Baidawi, S. (2012). Pathways into youth justice: Strengthening policy and program supports for young people in the youth justice system who are transitioning from out-of-home care. *Children Australia*, 37(1), 10-22. https://doi.org/10.1017/cha.2012.3
- *Mendes, P., Baidawi, S., & Snow, P. C. (2014). Young people transitioning from out-ofhome care in Victoria: Strengthening support services for dual clients of child protection and youth justice. *Australian Social Work*, 67(1), 6-23. https://doi.org/10.1080/0312407X.2013.853197
- *Mendes, P., Saunders, B., & Baidawi, S. (2016). Indigenous Young People Transitioning from Out-of-Home Care (OOHC) in Victoria, Australia: The Perspectives of Workers in Indigenous-Specific and Non-Indigenous Non-Government Services. *The*

International Indigenous Policy Journal, 7(3), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.18584/iipj.2016.7.3.2

- *Mendes, P., & Snow, P. (2014). The needs and experiences of young people with a disability transitioning from out-of-home care: The views of practitioners in Victoria, Australia. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 36, 115-123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.11.019
- Mendes, P., & Snow, P. (2016). Young people transitioning from out-of-home care: International research, policy and practice. Springer.

Menschner, C., & Maul, A. (2016). Key ingredients for successful trauma-informed care implementation. Trenton: Center for Health Care Strategies. https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/programs_campaigns/childrens_mental_he alth/atc-whitepaper-040616.pdf

- Middleton, J. S., Bloom, S. L., Strolin-Goltzman, J., & Caringi, J. (2019). Trauma-informed care and the public child welfare system: The challenges of shifting paradigms:
 Introduction to the special issue on trauma-informed care. *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, *13*(3), 235-244. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548732.2019.1603602
- Mitra, R., & Hodes, M. (2019). Prevention of psychological distress and promotion of resilience amongst unaccompanied refugee minors in resettlement countries. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 45*(2), 198-215. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12640
- Molnar, B. E., Meeker, S. A., Manners, K., Tieszen, L., Kalergis, K., Fine, J. E., ... & Wells, M. K. (2020). Vicarious traumatization among child welfare and child protection professionals: A systematic review. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *110*, 104679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104679

- Morrison, Z. (2007). Feeling heavy: Vicarious trauma and other issues facing those who work in the sexual assault field. Australian Centre for the Study of Sexual Assault, Australian Institute of Family Studies. https://apo.org.au/sites/default/files/resourcefiles/2007-09/apo-nid3525.pdf
- Müller, L. R. F., Büter, K. P., Rosner, R., & Unterhitzenberger, J. (2019). Mental health and associated stress factors in accompanied and unaccompanied refugee minors resettled in Germany: A cross-sectional study. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 13, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-019-0268-1
- Munn, Z., Peters, M. D., Stern, C., Tufanaru, C., McArthur, A., & Aromataris, E. (2018).
 Systematic review or scoping review? Guidance for authors when choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *18*, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0611-x
- Naert, J., Roose, R., Rapp, R. C., & Vanderplasschen, W. (2017). Continuity of care in youth services: A systematic review. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 75, 116-126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.02.027
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). (2017). *Child Abuse and Neglect Quality Standard* [NICE Guideline QS179]. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs179
- Noyes, J., Booth, A., Flemming, K., Garside, R., Harden, A., Lewin, S., ... & Thomas, J. (2018). Cochrane Qualitative and Implementation Methods Group guidance series paper 3: Methods for assessing methodological limitations, data extraction and synthesis, and confidence in synthesized qualitative findings. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 97, 49-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2017.06.020

- Oates, J., Carpenter, D., Fisher, M., Goodson, S., Hannah, B., Kwiatowski, R., ... &
 Wainwright, T. (2021). *BPS Code of Human Research Ethics*. British Psychological Society.
- O'Donnell, R., Hatzikiriakidis, K., Mendes, P., Savaglio, M., Green, R., Kerridge, G., ... & Skouteris, H. (2020). The impact of transition interventions for young people leaving care: a review of the Australian evidence. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, 25(1), 1076-1088. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.2020.1842216
- Oral, R., Jennissen, C., Wojciak, A. S., Segal, R., Wibbenmeyer, L., Nielsen, A., ... & Peek-Asa, C. (2020). Nationwide efforts for trauma-informed care implementation and workforce development in healthcare and related fields: a systematic review. *The Turkish Journal of Pediatrics*, 62(6), 906-920.

https://doi.org/10.24953/turkjped.2020.06.002

- Page, M. J., McKenzie, J.E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., Shamseer, L., Tetzlaff, J. M., Akl, E. A., Brennan, S. E., Chou, R., Glanville, J., Grimshaw, J. M., Hrobjartsson, A., Lalu, M. M., Li, T., Loder, E. W., Mayo-Wilson, E., McDonald, S., ... Moher, D. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. British Medical Journal, 372(71), e105906. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n71
- Patel, N., Tribe, R., & Yule, B. (2018). Guidelines for Psychologists working with Refugees and Asylum-seekers in the UK: Extended version. The British Psychological Society. https://explore.bps.org.uk/content/report-guideline/bpsrep.2018.inf300b
- Perry, B. D., & Jackson, A. L. (2018). Trauma-informed leadership. In M. Frederico, M.
 Long, & N. Cameron (Eds.), *Leadership in child and family practice* (pp. 125-141).
 Routledge.

- Peters, M. D., Godfrey, C. M., Khalil, H., McInerney, P., Parker, D., & Soares, C. B. (2015). Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews. *JBI Evidence Implementation*, 13(3), 141-146. https://doi.org/10.1097/XEB.0000000000000050
- Pfeiffer, E., Behrendt, M., Adeyinka, S., Devlieger, I., Rota, M., Uzureau, O., ... & Derluyn, I. (2022). Traumatic events, daily stressors and posttraumatic stress in unaccompanied young refugees during their flight: A longitudinal cross-country study. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, *16*(1), 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-022-00461-2
- Pilgrim, D. (2014). Some implications of critical realism for mental health research. Social Theory & Health, 12, 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1057/sth.2013.17
- Pinkney, S., & Walker, G. (2020). 'It was me, but it was them that helped me': Exploring the issues for care experienced young people within higher education. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 108, 104576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104576
- Portnoy, S., & Ward, A. (2020). Unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and young people– Understanding their journeys towards improved physical and emotional health. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 25(3), 636-647. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104520925865
- Pound, M., & Sims-Schouten, W. (2022). A systematic review of the principles of coproduction in relation to the mental health and wellbeing of care leavers. *International Journal of Emotional Education*, 14(1). https://doi.org/10.56300/NVFU2763
- Prendergast, L., Davies, C., Seddon, D., Hartfiel, N., & Edwards, R. T. (2024). Barriers and enablers to care-leavers engagement with multi-agency support: A scoping review. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 159, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2024.107501

- *Purtell, J., Mendes, P., & Saunders, B. J. (2021). Where Is the village? Care leaver early parenting, social isolation and surveillance bias. *International Journal on Child Maltreatment: Research, Policy and Practice*, 4(3), 349-371.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s42448-021-00084-8
- *Purtell, J., Mendes, P., Saunders, B. J., & Baidawi, S. (2022). Healing trauma and loss and increasing social connections: Transitions from care and early parenting. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 39(6), 735-747. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10560-022-00860-6
- *Rahamim, A., & Mendes, P. (2016). Mental health supports and young people transitioning from out-of-home care in Victoria. *Children Australia*, 41(1), 59-68.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/cha.2015.35
- Rice, E., & O'Connor, S. (2023). The effect of provisions on the mental health of young adult care leavers. A systematic review. *Journal of Children's Services*, 18(2), 81-103. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCS-02-2022-0010
- Ridley, J., Larkins, c., farrelly, n., hussein, S., Austerberry, h., Manthorpe, J., & Stanley, n.
 (2016). Investing in the relationship: Practitioners' relationships with looked-after children and care leavers in Social Work Practices. *Child and Family Social Work*.
 21(1), 55-64. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12109
- Roberts, L. (2017). A small-scale qualitative scoping study into the experiences of looked after children and care leavers who are parents in Wales. *Child & Family Social Work*, 22(3), 1274-1282. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12344
- Rodriguez, I. M., & Dobler, V. (2021). Survivors of hell: Resilience amongst unaccompanied minor refugees and implications for treatment-a narrative review. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma*, 14(4), 559-569. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40653-021-00385-7

- *Rogers, R. (2015). Taking responsibility for the provision of financial, housing, and emotional support for young people leaving care. *Australian Social Work*, 68(1), 99-114. https://doi.org/10.1080/0312407X.2013.868013
- Romsland, G. I., Milosavljevic, K. L., & Andreassen, T. A. (2019). Facilitating non-tokenistic user involvement in research. *Research Involvement and Engagement*, 5, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40900-019-0153-3
- Sanchez-Clemente, N., Eisen, S., Harkensee, C., Longley, N., O'Grady, R., & Ward, A. (2023). Beyond arrival: Safeguarding unaccompanied asylum-seeking children in the UK. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 108(3), 160-165. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2021-323648
- Schwartz, I. (2017). Putting the child at the centre of inter-professional cooperation in out-ofhome care. *Child & Family Social Work*, 22(2), 992-999. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12319
- Sidery, A. (2019). Fostering unaccompanied asylum seeking young people: The views of foster carers on their training and support needs. *Adoption & Fostering*, 43(1), 6-21. https://doi.org/10.1177/0308575919826898
- Spurway, K., Sullivan, C., Leha, J., Trewlynn, W., Briskman, L., & Soldatic, K. (2023). "I felt invisible": First nations LGBTIQSB+ young people's experiences with health service provision in Australia. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services*, 35(1), 68-91. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538720.2022.2045241
- Staines, J., Fitzpatrick, C., Shaw, J., & Hunter, K. (2023). 'We need to tackle their wellbeing first': Understanding and supporting care-experienced girls in the Youth Justice System. *Youth Justice*, 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1177/14732254231191977

- Stein, M. (2008). Resilience and young people leaving care. *Child Care in Practice*, 14(1), 35-44. https://doi.org/10.1080/13575270701733682
- Strahl, B., Van Breda, A. D. P., Mann-Feder, V., & Schröer, W. (2021). A multinational comparison of care-leaving policy and legislation. *Journal of International and Comparative Social Policy*, 37(1), 34-49. https://doi.org/10.1017/ics.2020.26
- Sulimani-Aidan, Y., & Melkman, E. (2018). Risk and resilience in the transition to adulthood from the point of view of care leavers and caseworkers. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 88, 135-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.03.012
- Taylor, D. J., Shlonsky, A., Albers, B., Chakraborty, S., Lewis, J., Mendes, P., ... & Williams, K. (2021). Protocol for a systematic review of policies, programs or interventions designed to improve health and wellbeing of young people leaving the out-of-home care system. *Systematic Reviews*, *10*, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-021-01792-5
- Thomas, J., & Harden, A. (2008). Methods for the thematic synthesis of qualitative research in systematic reviews. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 8, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-8-45
- Thomas, S., Thomas, S., Nafees, B., & Bhugra, D. (2004). 'I was running away from death'– the pre-flight experiences of unaccompanied asylum seeking children in the UK. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 30(2), 113-122. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2214.2003.00404.x
- Topitzes, J., Grove, T., Meyer, E. E., Pangratz, S. M., & Sprague, C. M. (2019). Traumaresponsive child welfare services: A mixed methods study assessing safety, stability, and permanency. *Journal of Child Custody*, *16*(3), 291-312. https://doi.org/10.1080/15379418.2019.1607796
- Trainor, L. R., & Bundon, A. (2021). Developing the craft: Reflexive accounts of doing reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 13(5), 705-726. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2020.1840423
- Tyler, T. A. (2012). The limbic model of systemic trauma. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, *26*(1), 125-138. https://doi.org/10.1080/02650533.2011.602474
- Vamvakos, C., & Berger, E. (2024). Residential care worker perceptions on the implementation of trauma-informed practice. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 159, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2024.107513
- Van Breda, A. D., Munro, E. R., Gilligan, R., Anghel, R., Harder, A., Incarnato, M., ... & Storø, J. (2020). Extended care: Global dialogue on policy, practice and research. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 119, 105596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105596
- Van der Kolk, B. (2014). The body keeps the score: Brain, mind, and body in the healing of *trauma*. Penguin Books.
- Van der Veer, G., & Van Waning, A. (2004). Creating a safe therapeutic sanctuary. In J. P.Wilson, & B. Drozdek (Eds.), *Broken Spirits* (pp. 217-250). Routledge.
- Vostanis, P., Sofios, P., Petrali, A., & O'Reilly, M. (2024). A national mental health cascade training programme for practitioners supporting unaccompanied minors in Greece. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 0(0) 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/13591045241242324
- Wade, J. (2011). Preparation and transition planning for unaccompanied asylum-seeking and refugee young people: A review of evidence in England. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 33(12), 2424-2430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.08.027

- Wall, L., Higgins, D., & Hunter, C. (2016). Trauma-informed care in child/family welfare services. Australian Institute of Family Studies, Child Family Community Australia. https://apo.org.au/sites/default/files/resource-files/2016-01/apo-nid61332.pdf
- Ward, C. (2022). Practitioners' perspectives and needs: Developing skills to support unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASCs) in experiencing 'belonging' in English educational spaces. *British Educational Research Journal*, 48(2), 311-329. https://doi.org/10.1002/berj.3768
- Ward, H. (2011). Continuities and discontinuities: Issues concerning the establishment of a persistent sense of self amongst care leavers. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 33(12), 2512-2518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.08.028
- Williams, R. (1999). Cultural safety—what does it mean for our work practice? Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 23(2), 213-214. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-842X.1999.tb01240.x

Appendices

Appendix A

Ethical Approval From the Research Ethics Committee at Royal Holloway, University

of London

Ethics Appli	cation System <ethi< th=""><th>ics@rhul.ac.uk></th><th></th><th></th><th>٢</th><th>5</th><th>\$</th><th>0</th><th>0 0 0 0</th><th></th></ethi<>	ics@rhul.ac.uk>			٢	5	\$	0	0 0 0 0	
To: Griggs,	Jemma (2021); Har	vey, Joel; Ethics			Tue 26/09/20		9/2023	23 09:04		
PI: Dr Joel I	Harvey									
		1. A 10 A		sylum seeking youn	g people	e withi	in a tr	auma	-	
informed fi	ramework at the N	ational House Pro	ect: An Explorator	y Qualitative Study.						
REC Project	tID: 3821									
Your applic	ation has been ap	proved by the Res	earch Ethics Comn	nittee.						
		2 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C		e project to the Univ	ersity Re	searc	h Ethi	cs Co	mmitt	ee
ethics@rhu										
ethics@rhu	ul.ac.uk	ny attachments ar	e intended solely f	or the addressee and	d may co	ontain	confi	dentia	al	
ethics@rhu This email, information	ıl.ac.uk its contents and ar n. In certain circum	istances, it may al	so be subject to leg	gal privilege. Any un	authoris	ed use	e, disc	losure	e, or	
ethics@rhu This email, information copying is	il.ac.uk its contents and ar n. In certain circum not permitted. If ye	stances, it may al ou have received	so be subject to leg this email in error,	al privilege. Any un please notify us and	authoris immedi	ed use ately a	e, disc and pe	losure erman	e, or nently	
ethics@rhu This email, information copying is delete it. A	II.ac.uk its contents and ar n. In certain circum not permitted. If yo ny views or opinior	stances, it may al ou have received ns expressed in po	so be subject to leg this email in error, ersonal emails are s	gal privilege. Any un	authoris immedi uthor an	ed use ately a d do i	e, disc and pe not ne	losure erman ecessa	e, or nently arily	
ethics@rhu This email, information copying is delete it. A represent t	II.ac.uk its contents and ar n. In certain circum not permitted. If yo ny views or opinior	stances, it may al ou have received ns expressed in po	so be subject to leg this email in error, ersonal emails are s	gal privilege. Any un please notify us and polely those of the a	authoris immedi uthor an	ed use ately a d do i	e, disc and pe not ne	losure erman ecessa	e, or nently arily	
ethics@rhu This email, information copying is delete it. A represent t	Il.ac.uk its contents and ar n. In certain circum not permitted. If yo ny views or opinior those of Royal Hollo	stances, it may al ou have received ns expressed in po	so be subject to leg this email in error, ersonal emails are s	gal privilege. Any un please notify us and polely those of the a	authoris immedi uthor an	ed use ately a d do i	e, disc and pe not ne	losure erman ecessa	e, or nently arily	
ethics@rhu This email, information copying is delete it. A represent t	Il.ac.uk its contents and ar n. In certain circum not permitted. If yo ny views or opinior those of Royal Hollo	stances, it may al ou have received ns expressed in po	so be subject to leg this email in error, ersonal emails are s	gal privilege. Any un please notify us and polely those of the a	authoris immedi uthor an	ed use ately a d do i	e, disc and pe not ne	losure erman ecessa	e, or hentl arily	

Appendix **B**

Participant Information Sheet



Prospective Research Participant Information Sheet

Psychology Department Royal Holloway, University of London

Project Title: Staff experiences of working with unaccompanied asylum seeking young people within a trauma-informed framework at the National House Project: An Exploratory Qualitative Study.

Researcher's name: Jemma Griggs

Researcher's email address: jemma.griggs.2021@live.rhul.ac.uk

Introduction

You are being invited to take part in a research project. Before you decide to consent to take part it is important for you to understand why the research is taking place and what your participation will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Please ask me if anything is not clear or if you would like more information. Please consider carefully whether you wish to consent to take part.

Why is this research being conducted?

The number of unaccompanied asylum seeking young people in care in the UK is at its highest recorded. These young people have often had difficult lives with negative experiences in their country of origin, on their journey to the UK and upon arrival in the UK. It is important that services supporting such young people are trauma-informed, meaning the whole service understands the potential impact of the negative experiences on young people and the staff they work with. Research indicates there are special considerations within trauma-informed practice when working with unaccompanied children. A recent review concluded that overall the National House Project (NHP) is working in a trauma-informed way, yet staff's experiences of implementing the NHP's framework when working with unaccompanied children was not specifically explored. The current study aims to explore staff's experience of working in a trauma-informed framework of practice with unaccompanied children who are leaving care.

Why have I been invited to take part?

You have been invited to take part in the study as you are aged over 18 years old and are currently working with or have previously worked with unaccompanied children at your Local House Project.

Do I have to take part?

No. It is up to you to decide whether you wish to take part or not. You can withdraw from the study at any time, without any consequences and without needing to give a reason. You can withdraw your data up until four weeks after the date of your interview so up until (enter withdrawal date) by contacting the researcher. After this date the interview will be transcribed and used as part of the thesis for assessment and potentially published so withdrawing your data will no longer be possible. If you decide that you wish to withdraw your data from the project within four weeks after the date of your interview, the researcher will delete the recording and transcription of your interview and it will not be used in the study.

What will my participation involve?

You will be provided with a consent form to read and sign if agreeable and you would like to partake in the study. You will then be invited to attend an interview with the researcher lasting up to 1 hour. The interview will be completed online via Microsoft Teams or in person at your Local House Project. The interview will explore your experience of working with unaccompanied children who are leaving care.

Questions in the interview will explore your views and experiences, there are no right or wrong answers. You can ask to pause the interview to take a break or stop the interview altogether at any time. With your consent we would like to audio record the interview using a password protected voice recorder or if the interview is online to record on Microsoft Teams, solely to aid with the write up of the study. This has highlighted your involvement in the study which aims to be written up by June 2024.

What are the possible disadvantages and risks in taking part, and how might these be mitigated?

Talking about your experiences working with unaccompanied children linked to traumainformed practice may trigger distressing or difficult feelings. Details will be provided of follow-up support available to you should this be required.

Everything will be done to keep your data anonymised. You will be asked for demographic information including gender, age, ethnicity and job role with an option of 'prefer not to say' for each of these. Demographic information obtained will not be linked to direct quotes in the write up of the study. You will also have the option of reviewing the quotes that will be used in the thesis write up to ensure you are satisfied with the use of your data.

Are there any benefits in taking part?

Whilst there are no immediate benefits for people participating in the project, it is hoped that this research will help to develop the NHP's trauma-informed approach to best meet the needs of unaccompanied children, identify potential training needs for staff at the NHP and help to develop other services and policies related to unaccompanied children.

Payments

There will be no payment for taking part in this study.

What information about me will be collected and why is the collection of this information relevant for achieving the research objectives?

Demographic information described above is collected to provide important context for participants partaking in the research. The interview will be recorded to aid with the write up of the study and be deleted once it has been transcribed by June 2024. Transcription of the interview will be retained for up to five years after the submission of the thesis until June 2029 for auditing purposes and to allow time for potential publication of the research. The research and two research supervisors will have access to the research data.

How will the results of my participation be used? Will the research be published? Could I be identified from any publications or other research outputs?

The research will be submitted as a thesis for assessment as part of the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology Course. The findings from the research may be published in an academic journal. Everything will be done to keep your data anonymised and you will be given a pseudonym (a made-up name) which will be used throughout any collected and stored data. Direct quotes from your interview may be used in the research findings alongside your pseudonym. You will also have the option of reviewing the quotes that will be used in the thesis write up to ensure you are satisfied with the use of your data.

Who do I contact if I have a concern about the research or if I wish to complain?

If you have a concern about any aspect of this study, please contact either the researcher, Jemma Griggs, via jemma.griggs.2021@live.rhul.ac.uk, the research supervisor, Dr Joel Harvey, via joel.harvey@rhul.ac.uk or Royal Holloway's Research Ethics Committee via ethics@rhul.ac.uk. If you wish to make a formal complaint, please email integrity@rhul.ac.uk.

Ethical Approval

This study has received ethics approval from Royal Holloway, University of London's Research Ethics Committee, with the approval ID of 3821.

Data protection

This research commits to abide by the Data Protection Act (2018). For detailed information about what this means for research participants, please visit the Research Participant Privacy Notice: <u>https://intranet.royalholloway.ac.uk/research/documents/researchpdf/new-intranets/research-participant-privacy-notice.pdf</u>

General Data Protection Regulation Statement

Important General Data Protection Regulation information (GDPR). Royal Holloway, University of London is the sponsor for this study and is based in the UK. We will be using information from you in order to undertake this study and will act as the data controller for this study. This means that we are responsible for looking after your information and using it properly. Any data you provide during the completion of the study will be stored securely on hosted on servers within the European Economic Area'.

Royal Holloway is designated as a public authority and in accordance with the Royal Holloway and Bedford New College Act 1985 and the Statutes which govern the College, we conduct research for the public benefit and in the public interest. Royal Holloway has put in place appropriate technical and organisational security measures to prevent your personal data from being accidentally lost, used or accessed in any unauthorised way or altered or disclosed.

Royal Holloway has also put in place procedures to deal with any suspected personal data security breach and will notify you and any applicable regulator of a suspected breach where legally required to do so.

To safeguard your rights, we will use the minimum personally-identifiable information possible (i.e., the email address you provide us). The lead researcher will keep your contact details confidential and will use this information only as required (i.e., to provide a summary of the study results if requested and/or for the prize draw). The lead researcher will keep information about you and data gathered from the study for 5 years after the study has finished.

Certain individuals from RHUL may look at your research records to check the accuracy of the research study. If the study is published in a relevant peer-reviewed journal, the anonymised data may be made available to third parties. The people who analyse the information will not be able to identify you.

You can find out more about your rights under the GDPR and Data Protection Act 2018 by visiting <u>https://www.royalholloway.ac.uk/about-us/more/governance-and-strategy/data-protection/</u> and if you wish to exercise your rights, please contact <u>dataprotection@royalholloway.ac.uk</u>

Thank you for taking the time to read this information. You may keep this information sheet for reference and please contact the researcher with any queries.

Appendix C

Participant Consent Form

Research Participant Consent

Name of study: Staff experiences of working with unaccompanied asylum seeking young people within a trauma-informed framework at the National House Project: An Exploratory Qualitative Study.

Name researcher: Jemma Griggs

Email address of researcher: jemma.griggs.2021@live.rhul.ac.uk

Research Participant - please read the following statements and indicate by circling or highlighting your response to each statement.

I confirm that I have read and understood the participant information sheet about this study.	Yes/No
I agree to participate in this study.	Yes/No
I have had the opportunity to ask questions about this study.	Yes/No
I have received satisfactory answers to my questions about this study.	Yes/No
I understand my participation in this study is voluntary.	Yes/No
I understand that I am free to withdraw from the study any time up until four weeks after the date of my interview, so up until (Monday 5 th February 2024) without giving a reason and without detriment to myself.	Yes/No
I agree to my interview being recorded on a password protected digital voice recorder and if online recorded using Microsoft Teams for the purpose of aiding the write up of the study.	Yes/No
I understand that my data will be stored on a university encrypted USB and after transcription of my interview the recording will be deleted by June 2024. I understand that the transcript of my interview will be stored for up to 5 years after submission of the thesis until June 2029 for auditing purposes and to allow time for potential publication of the study.	Yes/No
I understand that my data will be used in the write up of the study and everything will be done to keep this anonymised, using a pseudonym (a made-up name) and any demographic information collected not being used alongside direct quotes in the write up of the study.	Yes/No
I understand that my data will not be re-used in the future for any other purpose apart from the given study.	Yes/No
I understand that the only use of my contact details (email) will be for the researcher to contact me to arrange my interview and to provide me with a summary of the overall findings of the study.	Yes/No

Participant signature:

Participant Name:

Date:

Please note that this Consent form will be stored separately from the responses you provide.

If you have any concerns about this research, please email <u>ethics@rhul.ac.uk</u>.

Appendix D

The Letter of Approval for the Research Project from the CEO of the NHP

Date: 09th August 2023



The National House Project Couzens Building CO3A Crewe Green Road Crewe Cheshire CW1 5DU Charity number: 1179743 Scotland: SC052277

Dear Sir/Madam

Please accept this letter as confirmation that NHP support the research project to be completed by Jemma Griggs.

We give permission to conduct interviews on our premises and we understand and agree that we will not have access to participant data.

Yours sincerely



Chief Executive Officer The National House Project

Appendix E

Interview Schedule

Introductory questions

• Can you tell me a little about your role and the work that you do within the National House Project?

Experience of working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people

- Can you tell me about your experience of working directly or indirectly with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people before working at the National House Project?
 - What did this look like? Can you give an example?
 - *How did you feel about starting to work with these young people at the National House Project?*
- Can you tell me about your experience of working with unaccompanied asylumseeking young people/managing or working with staff who are working with such young people/policy making linked to these young people at the House Project?
 - Can you bring a young person to mind and, without mentioning their name, tell me about your experience of working with them?
- What, if any, complexities and/or positive aspects have you experienced working with such young people?
 - Can you give an example?
 - How do you, if at all, attempt to develop a trusting relationship when working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people?
 - How do you find working with a young person when their country of origin and cultural experience differs from yours?
 - What is your experience, if any, of working with unaccompanied asylumseeking young people where their first language differs from yours?
 - *How do you experience working with such young people who have ongoing asylum-seeking claims?*
- There are lots of ongoing political debates around unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people, how do you feel the systems around such young people, including the public view them?
 - What is this like for you as a practitioner?
 - How do you think such young people experience this?
 - *How, if at all, does this impact the work you do together?*

Experience of working within the ORCHIDs framework (trauma-informed framework) with these young people

- Can you tell me a bit about the ORCHIDS Framework?
- To what extent is the ORCHIDS framework helpful or unhelpful when working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people?
 - Can you give examples?
- Can you tell me about your experience, if any, of completing team formulations for unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people?
 - Can you give me an example?
 - When thinking about formulations with such young people, is there anything, if at all, that stands out about their stories?
 - What is it like for you when there are gaps in these young people's stories, when there is limited information about their background? What do you think that is like for the young person?
 - What is your understanding of the journeys that such young people have made? How, if at all, do you feel this impacts how they can relate to you or others?
- Do you bring such young people to staff consultations?
 - If yes, can you give me an example?
 - Is there anything, if at all, that stands out from other young people?
 - What are you hoping to get from the psychologist in these?
 - If no, why do you think this is?
- How connected or disconnected do you think unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people are to staff at the house project? To others in their cohort at the house project?
 - Taking into account any differences, how do you feel such young people view yourself? View others in their cohort?
- Can you tell me about community of practice meetings in relation to these young people?
 - Do people talk about these young people here?
 - If people don't talk about such young people here, why do you think that is?
- Think back to any training you have had/ran when working at the National House Project, what has this been like and how did you find this in relation to working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people?
 - Does this meet your needs/meet the needs of the staff?

Concluding questions

• Based on our discussion today do you have any ideas as to what might be helpful to consider when working with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people at the National House Project?

• Is there anything you feel I haven't mentioned that would be important to discuss?

Appendix F

Participant Demographic Form

Demographic questionnaire

Please answer the following questions:

1) What is your age?

Prefer not to say (please circle if prefer not to say).

2) How would you describe your gender?

Prefer not to say (please circle if prefer not to say).

3) How would you describe your ethnicity?

Prefer not to say (please circle if prefer not to say).

Appendix G

Participant Debrief Form



Research Participant Debrief Sheet

Psychology Department

Royal Holloway, University of London

Project Title: Staff experiences of working with unaccompanied asylum seeking young people within a trauma-informed framework at the National House Project: An Exploratory Qualitative Study.

Thank you for taking the time to take part in this research project

Aims of the project

The study aimed to explore staff's experience of working in a trauma-informed framework of practice with unaccompanied asylum seeking young people who are leaving care.

Sharing of results/finding out more

Once written up, the findings of the study will be shared with the National House Project and be available for you to access. The researcher is also looking to arrange a meeting to present and discuss the findings of the study. If you have any questions about the research or would like to find out more, please contact the researcher via email at jemma.griggs.2021@live.rhul.ac.uk

Withdrawal from research

If you wish to withdraw your data within the timeframe given in the participant information sheet, within four weeks of the date of your interview so up until (enter withdrawal date), please contact the researcher via email at jemma.griggs.2021@live.rhul.ac.uk_stating that you would like to withdraw your data and it will not be used in the study.

Further support

If you feel you need to speak with someone for further support following the topics discussed in the interview please find available support below:

- Speak with your manager if you feel able
- Make an appointment with your GP
- Self-refer to your local IAPT talking therapies service by visiting:

https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/mental-health/find-an-nhs-talking-therapies-service

• Contact the Samaritans, available 24/7, by calling 116 123

If you are unsure of where to seek support please contact the researcher and they will be happy to discuss signposting options.

Thank you once again for your participation in this research project

Appendix H

Transcript and Coding Sample



Appendix I



Photos of Developing Initial Codes Into Themes



Appendix J

Systematic Review Full Search Strategy

Search Terms:

"service prov*" OR "care prov*" OR "mental health service*" OR "mental health prov*" OR professional* OR clinician* OR counsel* OR psycholog* OR therap* OR psychotherap* OR practitioner* OR "art therapist*" OR "drama therapist*" OR trainee* OR "assistant psychologist*" OR "social services" OR "social care" OR "social work*" OR "support work*" OR "outreach work*" OR "key worker*" OR "case worker*" OR "care worker*" OR education OR school* OR college OR "sixth form" OR teach* OR "teaching assistant*" OR mentor* OR "pastoral care" OR prison OR "criminal justice system" "OR "youth offend*" OR "prison officer*" OR "youth custody"

AND

experience* OR journeys OR thoughts OR feelings OR interactions OR engagement OR lived-experiences OR reflect* OR feedback OR views OR opinions OR reviews

AND

"care leav*" OR "leaving care" OR "foster care" OR "residential care" OR "kinship care" OR "out of home care"

AND

qualitative OR "thematic analysis" OR "grounded theory" OR "interpretive phenomenological analysis" OR ipa OR "phenomenological model" OR "discourse analysis" OR "focus group" OR "semi-structured interview" OR interview OR "narrative analysis" OR "narrative model" OR "content analysis" OR "ethnography" OR "ethnographic model" OR "case study" OR "case study model" AND "historical model"

PsycINFO, Web of Science and Scopus input:

("service prov*" OR "care prov*" OR "mental health service*" OR "mental health prov*" OR professional* OR clinician* OR counsel* OR psycholog* OR therap* OR psychotherap* OR practitioner* OR "art therapist*" OR "drama therapist*" OR trainee* OR "assistant psychologist*" OR "social services" OR "social care" OR "social work*" OR "support work*" OR "outreach work*" OR "key worker*" OR "case worker*" OR "care worker*" OR education OR school* OR college OR "sixth form" OR teach* OR "teaching assistant*" OR mentor* OR "pastoral care" OR prison OR "criminal justice system" "OR "youth offend*" OR "young offend*" OR "prison officer*" OR "youth custody") AND (experience* OR journeys OR thoughts OR feelings OR interactions OR engagement OR lived-experiences OR reflect* OR feedback OR views OR opinions OR reviews) AND ("care leav*" OR "leaving care" OR "foster care" OR "residential care" OR "kinship care" OR "out of home care") AND (qualitative OR "thematic analysis" OR "grounded theory" OR "interpretive phenomenological analysis" OR ipa OR "phenomenological model" OR "discourse analysis" OR "focus group" OR "semi-structured interview" OR interview OR "narrative analysis" OR "narrative model" OR "content analysis" OR "ethnography" OR "ethnographic model" OR "case study" OR "case study model" AND "historical model")

Appendix K

Quality Appraisal Tool for Included Studies

Section A: Are the results valid?		
 Was there a clear statement of the aims of the research? 	Yes Can't Tell No	HINT: Consider • what was the goal of the research • why it was thought important • its relevance
Comments:		
2. Is a qualitative methodology appropriate?	Yes Can't Tell No	HINT: Consider • If the research seeks to interpret or illuminate the actions and/or subjective experiences of research participants • Is qualitative research the right methodology for addressing the research goal
Comments:		
Is it worth continuing?		
3. Was the research design appropriate to address the aims of the research?	Yes Can't Tell No	HINT: Consider • if the researcher has justified the research design (e.g. have they discussed how they decided which method to use)
Comments:		





Comments:			

they have handled the effects of the study on the participants during and after the

If approval has been sought from

the ethics committee

study)





Section C: Will the results help locally?

10. How valuable is the research?

HINT: Consider

 If the researcher discusses the contribution the study makes to existing knowledge or understanding (e.g. do they consider the findings in relation to current practice or policy, or relevant researchbased literature

 If they identify new areas where research is necessary

 If the researchers have discussed whether or how the findings can be transferred to other populations or considered other ways the research may be used

Comments: